
 

 
 
Notice of meeting of  

Health Scrutiny Committee 
 
To: Councillors Fraser (Chair), Alexander, Ayre (Vice-Chair), 

Douglas, Morley, Sunderland and Wiseman 
 

Date: Monday, 3 November 2008 
 

Time: 5.00 pm 
 

Venue: The Guildhall, York 
 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 
  

 
1. Declarations of Interest   (Pages 3 - 4) 
 At this point Members are asked to declare any personal or 

prejudicial interests they may have in the business on this 
agenda. A list of general personal interests previously declared 
are attached. 
 

2. Minutes   (Pages 5 - 16) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 6 

October 2008. 
 

3. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting members of the public who have 

registered their wish to speak regarding an item on the agenda or 
an issue within the Committee’s remit can do so. Anyone who 
wishes to register or requires further information is requested to 
contact the Democracy Officer on the contact details listed at the 
foot of this agenda. The deadline for registering is Friday 31 
October 2008 at 5.00pm. 
 
 



 

 
4. Healthy City Board - Progress Update   (Pages 17 - 26) 
 This report provides an update on current Healthy City Board 

priorities in light of the newly launched Sustainable Community 
Strategy (SCS) and Local Area Agreement (LAA). 
 
Members are asked to note the contents of the report and to 
consider how they SCS and LAA priorities may influence their 
work. 
 

5. Dementia Review - Final Draft Report   (Pages 27 - 64) 
 To consider the final draft report from the Dementia Review. 

 
6. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Chair considers urgent under the  

Local Government Act 1972 
 

[A copy of the Health Scrutiny Committee's work plan for 2008/09 is 
attached for information] 
 
Democracy Officer:  
 
Name: Jill Pickering 
Contact details: 

• Telephone – (01904) 552061 

• E-mail – jill.pickering@york.gov.uk 
 
 
 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting  
 

• Registering to speak 

• Business of the meeting 

• Any special arrangements 

• Copies of reports 

 
 
 

 



About City of York Council Meetings 
 

Would you like to speak at this meeting? 
If you would, you will need to: 

• register by contacting the Democracy Officer (whose name and contact 
details can be found on the agenda for the meeting) no later than 5.00 
pm on the last working day before the meeting; 

• ensure that what you want to say speak relates to an item of business on 
the agenda or an issue which the committee has power to consider (speak 
to the Democracy Officer for advice on this); 

• find out about the rules for public speaking from the Democracy Officer. 
A leaflet on public participation is available on the Council’s website or 
from Democratic Services by telephoning York (01904) 551088 
 
Further information about what’s being discussed at this meeting 
All the reports which Members will be considering are available for viewing 
online on the Council’s website.  Alternatively, copies of individual reports or the 
full agenda are available from Democratic Services.  Contact the Democracy 
Officer whose name and contact details are given on the agenda for the 
meeting. Please note a small charge may be made for full copies of the 
agenda requested to cover administration costs. 
 
Access Arrangements 
We will make every effort to make the meeting accessible to you.  The meeting 
will usually be held in a wheelchair accessible venue with an induction hearing 
loop.  We can provide the agenda or reports in large print, electronically 
(computer disk or by email), in Braille or on audio tape.  Some formats will take 
longer than others so please give as much notice as possible (at least 48 hours 
for Braille or audio tape).   
 
If you have any further access requirements such as parking close-by or a sign 
language interpreter then please let us know.  Contact the Democracy Officer 
whose name and contact details are given on the order of business for the 
meeting. 
 
Every effort will also be made to make information available in another 
language, either by providing translated information or an interpreter providing 
sufficient advance notice is given.  Telephone York (01904) 551550 for this 
service. 

 

Agenda AnnexPage 1



 
Holding the Executive to Account 
The majority of councillors are not appointed to the Executive (38 out of 47).  
Any 3 non-Executive councillors can ‘call-in’ an item of business from a 
published Executive (or Executive Member Advisory Panel (EMAP)) agenda. 
The Executive will still discuss the ‘called in’ business on the published date 
and will set out its views for consideration by a specially convened Scrutiny 
Management Committee (SMC).  That SMC meeting will then make its 
recommendations to the next scheduled Executive meeting in the following 
week, where a final decision on the ‘called-in’ business will be made.  
 
Scrutiny Committees 
The purpose of all scrutiny and ad-hoc scrutiny committees appointed by the 
Council is to:  

• Monitor the performance and effectiveness of services; 

• Review existing policies and assist in the development of new ones, as 
necessary; and 

• Monitor best value continuous service improvement plans 
 
Who Gets Agenda and Reports for our Meetings?  

• Councillors get copies of all agenda and reports for the committees to 
which they are appointed by the Council; 

• Relevant Council Officers get copies of relevant agenda and reports for 
the committees which they report to;  

• Public libraries get copies of all public agenda/reports.  
 

Page 2



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 
 

Agenda item I: Declarations of interest. 
 
Please state any amendments you have to your declarations of interest: 
 
 
Councillor Fraser  Governor of York Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

and as a member of the retired section of Unison; 
 
Councillor Wiseman  Governor of York Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 
  
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

Agenda Item 1Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



City of York Council Committee Minutes

MEETING HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE 6 OCTOBER 2008 

PRESENT COUNCILLORS FRASER (CHAIR), ALEXANDER, 
AYRE (VICE-CHAIR), MORLEY, SUNDERLAND, 
WISEMAN AND SIMPSON-LAING (SUBSTITUTE) 

APOLOGIES COUNCILLOR DOUGLAS 

IN ATTENDANCE JOHN YATES – OLDER PEOPLE’S ASSEMBLY 
ANNE HARDY – ALZHEIMERS SOCIETY 
MIKE WRIGHT – YORKSHIRE AMBULANCE 
SERVICE (YAS) 
SUE BECKETT – YORK FOUNDATION TRUST 
KEVIN PRATT – NORTH YORKSHIRE & YORK 
PRIMARY CARE TRUST (NYYPCT) 
VERONICA MACKLEY – NYYPCT 
GRAHAM PURDY – NYYPCT 
DR LYNN COATES – NYYPCT 
MELANIE BRADBURY – NYYPCT 
PAT SLOSS - NYYPCT 
BILL HODSON - CYC 

17. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

Members were invited to declare at this point in the meeting any personal 
or prejudicial interests they might have in the business on the agenda. 

No interests were declared further to the standing personal, non-prejudicial 
interests declared at previous meetings and circulated with the agenda. 

18. MINUTES  

RESOLVED: That the minute of the meeting of the Committee held 
on 22 September 2008 be approved and signed by the 
Chair as a correct record.  

19. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  

It was reported that there had been one registration from John Yates to 
speak at the meeting, under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme. 

John referred to the response received from the Director of YOR Local 
Medical Council Limited in relation to the comments he had made, at an 
earlier meeting, that family General Practitioners no longer existed and that 
GP’s were often unaware of a person’s history. He went on to clarify his 
comments by stating that he felt that these days GP’s were less likely to be 
aware of a patient’s background with only 10 minute appointment slots. 

Agenda Item 2Page 5



He also referred to the consultation now being undertaken on the NHS 
Constitution, which it was reported would cover all sections of the 
community. He stated that he hoped that this would be a two-way dialogue 
as GP’s needed to be aware of what the public wanted prior to the 
Constitution being finalised. 

The Chair confirmed that the points raised by the speaker would be noted 
when consideration was given to the draft final report.   

20. DEMENTIA REVIEW – INTERIM PROGRESS REPORT  

Consideration was given to the Interim Progress Report on the Dementia 
Review, in particular to the information gathered at the formal meeting held 
on 1 September and from the informal evidence gathering session on 22 
September 2008, together with the issues arising. 

The Chair referred to the informal evidence gathering session when 
Members had identified several issues that needed further exploration. At 
that time it had been decided to address these by consulting and receiving 
evidence from the following: 

(a) Yorkshire Ambulance Service (YAS)  - A representative had been 
invited to attend the meeting to present their experiences in relation 
to dementia patients accessing secondary care.

Mike Wright, the Locality Manager from YAS, thanked the Committee 
for the opportunity to contribute to the review. He stated that, 
ambulance personnel, as usually the patient’s first line of contact after 
the GP, received very little guidance in relation to patients that were 
affected by dementia.  

He stated that when responding to 999 ambulance calls personnel 
were often unaware of what type of call they were attending as only 
basic information had been obtained. Crews analysed each case and 
situation on arrival but they were trained to obtain as much information 
from those at the scene as possible, which included relatives and 
carers. He confirmed that ambulance personnel did not receive specific 
training on dementia but that with information received they also had to 
be aware of potential abuse cases. He stated that staff were trained on 
the requirements of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and the new 
Safeguarding Adults policy, which would be ratified shortly by the Trust 
Board. He confirmed that crews were instructed to contact Social 
Services if they felt that an elderly patient was at risk and this would be 
done by way of a form.  He stated that every situation was different and 
that crews learnt by experience over a period of time. 

He pointed out that 

• Crews were only with patients for a short period of time 
compared with other health professionals.  

• Any training was good but that personnel had to learn a great 
deal of information in a very short period of time. 

• Very few complaints were received in this area. 

Page 6



• Although staff were experienced they could miss signs if patients 
had trauma or were dehydrated  

• Length of training for qualified paramedics: this could be 
undertaken in two ways the first by Technical entry which 
comprised an 8 week training scheme followed by 1 years 
probation or secondly with a 2 year study course which was 
equivalent to the technical entry followed by more advanced 
training but it was confirmed that this was still less training than 
that received by a nurse. 

• Confirmed that relatives/carers were always encouraged to 
travel with patients in the ambulance and that this included staff 
in residential homes accompanying residents. 

The representative of the Alzheimer’s Society referred to the specialist 
training their Society provided which she felt could be useful to 
ambulance personnel.  

Members referred to the fact that people were living longer and that 
with an increased elderly population and an increased incidence of 
dementia that there was possibly a need for more formal training for 
ambulance staff. Mike Wright confirmed that if funding was available 
and time set aside for such training that he would welcome this.  

(b) York Hospital front line staff – It was reported that Members of the 
Committee had visited front line staff at York Hospital on 6 October 
2008 when they had spoken to 3 members of staff from the Trauma 
and Orthopaedic Unit.

Notes of the comments made in relation to their experiences of caring 
for patients suffering from dementia who accessed secondary care 
were circulated at the meeting (copy attached to these minutes).   

Arising out of consideration of this document Members made the 
following comments: 

• Concern that those who worked on the elderly wards did not 
receive additional training in caring for patients with 
dementia; 

• Unfortunate that a forum arranged on mental health issues 
had been cancelled at short notice due to staff unavailability. 
The Chair confirmed that the Matron had confirmed that she 
would examine issue this outside of the scrutiny review; 

• Of the twelve benchmarks of ‘essence of care’ significant 
developments had been made in all areas apart from mental 
health.  Officers confirmed that this was a national initiative 
and that improvements were to be made locally in this area. It 
was confirmed that this point would be examined further 
when formulating the recommendations; 

• Minor text amendments would be made to the notes from the 
visit prior to the documents inclusion in the final report. 

Page 7



(c) The North Yorkshire and York Primary Care Trust (NYYPCT) – 
Representatives of the PCT were in attendance to update Members 
on training issues and the status of the Psychiatric Liaison Service. 

Members were reminded that it had been reported at the informal 
evidence gathering session that York Hospital together with colleagues 
in the PCT had investigated the possibilities of a “psychiatric liaison 
service” which had unfortunately been stalled due to lack of funding. A 
pilot of the scheme had produced some clear anecdotal evidence on 
the benefits of such a service. 

Representatives of the PCT at the meeting reiterated the point that 
earlier work had shown that reductions could be made in patient’s 
length of stay with the use of a liaison service. They confirmed that they 
fully supported the scrutiny review, as they were aware of gaps in the 
service. They also confirmed that anecdotal evidence had provided 
clear evidence that there was a need for the service to be used before 
and after hospital admissions. They pointed out that were also 
problems with the availability of resources for training. They made the 
final point that staff were also wary of over diagnosing or making too 
early a diagnosis of dementia in patients and that this was a very fine 
line.  

Members questioned the possibility of pooling training resources with 
Bootham Hospital. The PCT representatives confirmed that there were 
no problems with staff accessing training at other venues the only 
issues related to the suitability of different courses for staff at different 
levels. 

(d) Local Medical Committee (LMC) – The LMC had been contacted to 
see whether it would be feasible to include in GP notes details of 
named carers and to flag this information up when admitting 
dementia sufferers to hospital for secondary care.

Details of the response received from the Director of YOR Local 
Medical Council Limited were circulated at the meeting. He explained 
that a “shared care record system” did exist but that the software used 
in York and Selby was unpopular with the Strategic Health Authority 
(SHA). He confirmed that GP’s were resisting intense pressure from the 
SHA to change to an alternative system. He went on to confirm that 
every GP had a database of patients with dementia and that GP’s 
should be carrying out an annual review of carer contact details. 

Members expressed concern that the SHA should be attempting to 
change the excellent EMISWEB intranet system used by GP’s and 
pointed out that a compatible IT system should be used across all 
agencies. 

(e) National Dementia Strategy for England update September 2008 

This update was circulated to Members at the meeting and informed 
Alzheimer’s Society staff in England about work in progress on the 
Dementia Strategy.  

Page 8



Members agreed that they now had sufficient information to produce 
recommendations for the draft final report and following further 
discussion it was 

RESOLVED:     (i) That a further informal session of the Health Scrutiny 
Committee be arranged for Tuesday 21 October at 
4.30pm to make appropriate recommendations to be 
included in the draft final report; 

(ii) That the documents circulated at today’s meeting 
be received for inclusion in the draft report; 

(iii) That the Committee’s thanks be conveyed to the 
Scrutiny Officer for the expeditious production of the 
notes made following the visit to York Hospital, 
earlier in the day.   

REASON:  To progress this review.  

21. CONSULTATION ON THE NHS CONSTITUTION  

Members considered a report, which asked if they wished to take part in 
the national consultation on the NHS Constitution. Consideration was 
given to: 

• A letter inviting comments; 

• A copy of the consultation document and  

• A copy of the constitution. 

It was reported that the draft NHS Constitution now 

• Recorded in one place what the NHS did, what it stood for and 
what it should live up to. It set out principles to guide how all parts 
of the NHS should act and make decisions; 

• It also renewed the commitment to the enduring principles of the 
NHS and confirmed the commitment to a service that was for 
everyone, paid for out of taxes, based on clinical need rather than 
an individual’s ability to pay, and without discrimination of any kind. 

• Set out seven core principles, which aimed to empower patients, 
make decision-making criteria clearer and safeguard the future of 
the service. The draft Constitution proposed a new law to ensure 
that it was reviewed every ten years with its values reaffirmed every 
three years. 

Members were informed that national consultation was underway with the 
public, stakeholders, patients and staff with the consultation period running 
to 17 October 2008. 

Following discussion it was 

RESOLVED: That record be made that the Committee do not wish 
to take part in the consultation process.  

Page 9



REASON: The majority of proposals in the NHS Consultation 
were non controversial and the Committee did not feel 
further comment was required. 

22. HEALTH SCRUTINY NETWORKING  

Consideration was given to a report, which informed the Committee of 
recent events attended, by both Members and Officers outside the formal 
meeting cycle of the Health Scrutiny Committee. 

Details of the following events and meetings were reported: 

• Introductory meeting with North Yorkshire & York Primary Care 
Trust (16.06.08) 

• Regional Health Scrutiny Officers Meeting (23.07.08) 

• Members’ visit to York Hospital (1.08.08) 

• Meeting with NYYPCT (13.08.08) 

• Launch of York Carer’s Forum (4.09.08) 

• Workshop on LINks and Regional Specialist Commissioning 

• Launch of York LINk (15.09.08) 

• NYYPCT Annual General Meeting (AGM) (23.09.08) 

Members agreed that the reporting of these events was very useful. The 
Scrutiny Officer asked for any contributions from Members for future 
updates to be emailed to her. 

RESOLVED:   (i) That the update report be noted; 

(ii) That future updates be reported to the 
Committee on a quarterly basis. 1. 

REASON: To keep Members informed of events attended that are 
relevant to Health Scrutiny.    

Action Required  
1. Health Scrutiny networking update reports to be made to 
Committee on a quarterly basis, the next update to be made 
in February 2009.   GR  

23. PROTOCOL FOR THE YORKSHIRE AND HUMBER COUNCILS JOINT 
HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

Consideration was given to a report, which presented Members with the 
draft protocol for the Yorkshire and Humber Council’s Joint Health Scrutiny 
Committee. Members were asked to consider whether or not to adopt this 
protocol. 

The protocol had been developed as a framework for carrying out scrutiny 
of regional and specialist health services that would impact upon residents 
across Yorkshire and the Humber under powers for Local Authorities to 
scrutinise the NHS contained in the Health and Social Care Act 2001. It 
was reported that the protocol had been jointly drafted by scrutiny officers 
from across the region and that it was currently being presented for 

Page 10



adoption to the 15 Local Authorities that it affected. It was proposed that 
the regional health scrutiny protocol would replace existing sub-regional 
protocols. 

RESOLVED: That the Committee adopt the protocol for the 
Yorkshire and Humber Council’s Joint Health Scrutiny 
Committee. 

REASON: To ensure that Members can fully take part in 
necessary health consultation. 

Cllr S Fraser, Chair 
[The meeting started at 5.00 pm and finished at 6.00 pm]. 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Comments from front line staff at York Hospital

Members of the Committee visited front line staff at the hospital on 
06.10.2008. They spoke to 3 Members of staff from the Trauma and 
Orthopaedic Unit (a Health Care Assistant, a Staff Nurse and a Deputy Sister) 
and also a Matron. They made the following comments in relation to their 
experiences of caring for patients suffering from dementia who accessed 
secondary care: 

Training

� There were large gaps in training provision and Members of staff on 
non-elderly wards did not have sufficient training in caring for patients 
with dementia. 

� A forum had been set up for staff in relation to mental health issues but 
most of these had been cancelled at short notice, as staff were 
unavailable to attend. The Matron thought that these could possibly be 
revamped and was willing to explore the possibility of this. 

� As part of their general nurse training qualified staff receive a 7 or 8 
week placement that covers caring for people with mental health 
conditions. Much of the time staff were expected to learn about care for 
dementia sufferers ‘as they went along’. The Health Care Assistant 
(HCA) had received no formal training in this respect other than “on the 
job” training/experience. 

� There were link nurses for things such as manual handling and 
infection control. It was suggested that there could also be a link nurse 
for mental health. 

� Staff felt that formal training in dementia care would be helpful. 
Discussions were had surrounding using a link nurse to do this. The 
link nurse would then cascade information learned down to other 
members of staff on the ward. 

� There were twelve benchmarks of ‘essence of care’ and significant 
developments had been made in all areas apart from mental health. 

Communication & Provision of Information

� Communication between the patient and members of staff could be 
difficult especially when a carer wasn’t present. 

� The information that staff had was often from a printed sheet which 
frequently did not indicate the social needs of a patient. 

� If a patient has no carers/family then communication can be very 
difficult as there is very little information regarding the social 

Minute AnnexPage 1Page 13



background of the patient (i.e. what they like to eat, what their usual 
routines are). 

� If the patient is admitted from a care home the care assistant may not 
know them very well (especially if there has been a recent shift 
change). A written handover sheet is given to staff at the hospital when 
the patient is admitted from a care home but if there is not enough 
information on this then staff will ring the care home and ask for more 
information about the patient. This sheet would usually indicate 
whether the patient was suffering from dementia. 

� The possibility of a checklist of standard information that staff could 
mark off once received was discussed. 

� It was the ‘little things’ that could make a patient feel comfortable such 
as knowing what they liked to be called, what they liked to eat etc. In 
the case of patients with dementia there was a higher need for social 
care even if they were on hospital for a physical problem. 

� If a patient had been referred to hospital by a GP then he/she will have 
some knowledge of the patient’s history and this would be passed on to 
staff. 

� Discussions were had regarding continuity and staff handovers. 
Communication between staff was good whilst working and when the 
shifts changed.  

� Information was also passed on to the multi-disciplinary areas such as 
physiotherapists and occupational therapists. 

� Staff should let the bed manager or the Matron know that they need 
extra staff to assist with vulnerable adults and if they want a visit from 
the Specialist Health Nurse. 

� A safety briefing was carried out at all shift handovers. Discussion were 
had as to whether this could be elaborated. 

� Discussions were had in relation to the ‘This is me’ document that the 
Alzheimer’s Society were developing. Hospital staff thought this was a 
very good idea and would be a useful tool for them. 

Hospital Environment & Patient Experience & Safety

� The hospital environment is often alien and therefore frightening for 
patients suffering from dementia. It is common for dementia sufferers 
to feel uncomfortable outside of familiar surroundings.

� A patient will have suffered a traumatic experience (i.e. a fall) that has 
required admission to hospital. When a patient also suffers from 
dementia this can heighten the trauma. 

Page 2Page 14



� Patients with dementia can often be unsettled when they are unfamiliar 
with their surroundings and the people near them. 

� If a patient presents with confusion (but has not been diagnosed with 
dementia) then the staff would initially look at ruling out infection as a 
cause. Once this had been done and if the patient was still confused 
then they would look at exploring whether there was an underlying 
mental health issue causing the problem. They were supported by the 
elderly medicine physicians who would come and visit the patient and 
advise the staff. There was also a Nurse Specialist in Mental Health. 

� If a patient does not feel safe and calm then this will have a negative 
impact on the rest of the ward. 

� To assist with patient safety patients with similar needs were often kept 
together in one part of the ward to allow staff to keep a closer eye on 
them. 

� Patients with dementia often feel more at ease with some personal 
belongings near them. In the surgical wards this is not always possible 
due to the risk of infection. Infection control limited the hospital as to 
what personal belongings a patient could bring with them. 

Staff Time Constraints

� Staff on a busy ward (such as trauma and orthopaedics) can 
sometimes struggle to spend time with patients to reassure them that 
everything is okay. 

� If a ward is short staffed then it was a struggle at mealtimes. It was also 
more difficult to watch high dependency patients and to prevent 
patients from falling and wandering. 

� Some patients on the surgical ward require one to one care for 24 
hours a day and staffing levels had been increased to cope with this 
and ensure patient safety. Staff would still be under pressure at busy 
periods of the day though. 

� The Matron liaised regularly with the teams regarding staffing issues. If 
there were issues then, where possible, other staff were sent to assist 
on a ward. 

� Mealtimes, drug distribution and answering patient bells often clashed. 
There were some very busy times of the day, especially teatime when 
all of the above happened and patients were still coming back to the 
ward post operation. 

� Staff had concerns regarding patient’s dignity when they were 
disorientated. Certain events could be upsetting for staff, patients and 

Page 3Page 15



visitors and needed to be avoided. It was important to make the patient 
feel at ease but time did not always allow for this to be as effective as it 
could be. 

� There was only one Specialist Mental Health Nurse and if this area 
could be expanded it would be beneficial to all. 

Involvement of Carers

� Staff do, where possible, encourage carers to provide information 
about the patient in order to care for them in the most appropriate way.  

� Carers are also encouraged to help the patient at meal times and 
normal routines and where possible are incorporated outside of the 
normal visiting times. [Not sure whether this happens on all wards due 
to the protected meal times scheme]. 

� Staff try and get patients with dementia to follow a routine that they like 
and this can be achieved with the support of carers and family. 

� Staff felt that communication could be improved with more carer 
involvement.  

General

� People were living longer and therefore there were more instances of 
dementia in patients.

� Sometimes, in the early stages of dementia, the family would cover up 
for any problems there were.

� The introduction of a Psychiatric Liaison Service would be beneficial

Page 4Page 16



 

 

  

 

   

 

Health Scrutiny Committee 3 November 2008 

 
Report of the Associate Director of Public Health, NYYPCT / CYC and Chair of 
Healthy City Board 

 

Healthy City Board – Progress Update 
 

Summary 
 
1. Members of the Health Scrutiny Committee received a report and presentation in 

November 2007 about the work of the Healthy City Board and progress in 
developing the Local Area Agreement (LAA) for 2008. This report provides an 
update on current Healthy City Board priorities in light of the newly launched 
Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS) and LAA. 

Background 
 
2. The requirement for all localities to have a ‘Sustainable’ Community Strategy was 

enshrined in legislation when the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Bill received royal assent in October 2007.  The Bill also introduced a 
statutory duty for all top tier local authorities to produce a Local Area Agreement 
(LAA) and to move the existing LAA (period 2007/08 – to 2009/10) to a ‘new’ LAA 
(period 2008/09 – to 2010/11). 

3. It was specified that the revised LAA would include up to 35 indicators from a new 
national indicator set of 198 and 17 statutory indicators on educational attainment 
(which are included in the new national set). In addition, the ‘new’ LAA could also 
include local indicators (selected from the new national set or otherwise) to reflect 
local priorities. 

4. There is now no other way of setting targets with central government and there is 
a statutory duty for specified partners to cooperate in the delivery of the LAA. 

Consultation 

5. Refresh of the SCS and LAA took a year to complete and both have been 
endorsed by the major public sector and key delivery partnerships in the city.  In 
order to meet with Government Office timescales, the LAA was agreed by the 
Staffing Matters and Urgency Committee on 6 June.  The SCS subsequently 
received final endorsement at a meeting of Full Council on 30 June.  (A full copy of 
the Community Strategy is available on the Without Walls website at 
www.yorkwow.org.uk and the LAA is attached at Annex A). 

Options / Analysis 

6. This report is for information only. 

Agenda Item 4Page 17



 

Healthy City Board input to the SCS and LAA 

7. The Without Walls Executive Delivery Board, who oversee performance 
monitoring and management of the SCS and LAA, are to focus on three types of 
measures: 

• ‘State of the city’ indicators – key high level longitudinal measures.  The 
Healthy City Board’s key long-term measure is the all-age, all-cause 
mortality rate. 

• LAA2 indicators – the areas of work that the LAA indicators relate to, 
together with the aims of the SCS, form the bulk of the Healthy City Board’s 
work.  The table below shows the LAA indicators where the Health 
Partnership has lead responsibility for delivery: 

 
Ref: Indicator Status 
NI 116 Obesity among primary school age children Designated 
NI 120 All-age, all-cause mortality rate Designated 
NI 130 Social Care clients receiving self-directed 

support (direct payments and individual 
budgets) 

Designated 

NI 135 Carers receiving needs assessment or review 
and a specific carer’s service, advice or 
information 

Designated 

NI 141 Number of vulnerable people achieving 
independent living 

Designated 

NI 128 User reported measure of respect and dignity in 
their treatment (this indicator is delayed 
nationally) 

Local 

NI 139 People over 65 who say that they receive the 
information, assistance and support needed to 
exercise choice and control to live 
independently 

Local 

HCOP 1.1 Reduce health inequalities within the local area 
by narrowing the gap in all-age, all-cause 
mortality 

Local 

 

• Key actions and milestones that need to be achieved in order to deliver 
the LAA indicators and outcomes.  The Healthy City Board (HCB) has a 
monitoring plan which ensures that each Sustainable Community Strategy 
aim is looked at in detail annually and each LAA priority area is examined 
six- monthly.  The lead officer for the area is invited to provide a paper or 
presentation on progress and discuss this with the Healthy City Board 
members.  The Board also receives regular updates from the Older People’s 
Partnership Board, York Health Group, York Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust and the Supporting People Partnership Board. 

 
8. The Healthy City Board also supports other partnerships to deliver in other LAA 

priority areas including adult participation in sport, alcohol-related hospital 
admission rates, under 18 conception rates and tackling fuel poverty. 

 

 

Page 18



 

Monitoring Plan 

9. As the Healthy City Board meets on a quarterly basis it is recognised that most of 
the activity to deliver SCS and LAA priorities will take place outside of the formal 
meetings and will be led by partners as appropriate.  It was agreed in July 
however, that the HCB will monitor LAA targets on a six monthly basis and 
strategic SCS aims annually in a rolling programme as set out below: 

September / October 
LAA 
Targets 

NI 56 Obesity among primary school age children in Year 6  
NI 130 Social care clients receiving Self Directed Support 
NI 8 Adult participation in sport 
NI 112 Under 18 conception rate 

SCS Aim • To develop safe, effective, quality services in the right settings, as 
close to home as is possible and clinically appropriate. 

December / January 
LAA 
Targets 

NI120 All age all cause mortality  
HCOP 1.1 AAACM ratio for most deprived quintile 
NI 135 Carers receiving needs assessment or review 
NI 141 Number of vulnerable people achieving independent 
NI 39 Alcohol related admissions. 

SCS Aims • To identify and address inequalities in health outcomes and in the 
determinants of health. 

• To prevent ill health and promote well being by supporting individuals 
and communities to make healthy choices, with tailored interventions 
for those who are least likely to make these choices. 

• To make sure that those with risk factors or will ill health are identified 
as early as possible and offered appropriate treatment. 

March / April 
LAA 
Targets: 

NI 56 Obesity among primary school age children in Year 6  
NI 130 Social care clients receiving Self Directed Support 
NI 8 Adult participation in sport 
NI 112 Under 18 conception rate 

SCS Aims • To engage the community of York in the planning and development of 
health and social care services and pathways. 

• To support individuals to ‘self care’ and become experts in managing 
their own condition.  Wherever possible to allow individuals to 
commission or direct the commissioning of personalised services that 
are tailored to their own choices. 

June / July 
LAA 
Targets 

NI120 All age all cause mortality  
HCOP 1.1 AAACM ratio for most deprived quintile 
NI 135 Carers receiving needs assessment or review 
NI 141 Number of vulnerable people achieving independent 
NI 39 Alcohol related admissions.  

SCS Aims • To jointly commission health and social care services from a variety of 
providers to meet the needs of the population, combining the expertise 
and resources of the NHS and Local Authority. 

• To provide care in an integrated way that allows patients to navigate 
their care pathway smoothly.  Where appropriate integrate services. 

• To plan ahead so that the employed and carer workforces are skilled 
and supported to meet future needs. 

 

Page 19



 

10. Feedback regarding progress discussed at the last HCB meeting on 7 October 
highlighted that: 

• Initial results for NI56 (Childhood obesity) for 2007/8 show a 1% rise from 
15.6% to 16.6%, which is above the target for 2008/9 of 15.4%.  This is a very 
challenging target to achieve.  An implementation group for York is due to be 
set up shortly, which will oversee partnership work to reverse the rising trend of 
obesity; 

• Current performance for NI 130 (Direct Payments) already exceeds the target 
set for 2008/9 and 2009/10, with data for August 2008 at 219.21 per 100,000 
population aged 18 or over; 

• Data for teenage pregnancy rates showed that overall rates had declined 
slightly, but there are still improvements to be made.   

Corporate Priorities 
 

11. The SCS and LAA contribute to the seven Corporate Strategy Direction 
Statements, the ten priorities and the short term imperative to respond to York’s 
changing population.   

Implications 
 

12. Financial - The Executive has approved use of the residual LPSA2 reward grant 
to support achievement of Local Area Agreement targets. The LPSA2 grant of 
approximately £900,000 will be used to implement and manage schemes that 
have the greatest impact on achieving targets. 

13. Equalities – There are specific implications for LAAs in relation to two aspects of 
the Race Relations Act 1976.  The majority of bodies involved in LAAs are public 
bodies, and as such, have obligations under this Act.  Specifically, whilst 
undertaking their role as stakeholders in LAAs, they must be mindful of the 
General Duty under the Act, which is: (a) to eliminate racial discrimination, (b) to 
promote equal opportunities and (c) to promote good relations between different 
racial groups.  Partners have capitalised on the SCS / LAA refresh process to help 
achieve their General Duty obligations. 

14. The Race Relation Amendment Act, Disability Equality Duty, Gender Equality Duty 
and Equality Standard for Local Government also requires us to monitor the 
impact of our improvement activities in relation to all six equalities strands, where 
relevant.  In the context of the LAA, Partners need to consider how delivery of LAA 
outcomes is impacting on different minority groups. 

15. Legal – The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Bill placed a 
statutory requirement on the local authority to develop a Sustainable Community 
Strategy and LAA and duties on named partners to co-operate with the authority. 

16. Crime and Disorder, Human Resources, Information Technology – There are 
no implications in these areas. 

 

 

Page 20



 

Risk Management 
 

17. In compliance with the Council’s risk management strategy.  There are no risks 
associated with the recommendations of this report. 

  

Recommendations 
 
18. Members are asked to note the content of the report, ask questions regarding SCS 

/ LAA priorities and to consider how they may influence their future work. 

 
19. Reason: In order to remain up to date on the health and well-being of the citizens 

of York. 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
 
Rachel Johns  
Associate Director of Public Health 
01904 724008 

 
Report Approved 

, 
Date  

21 October 2008 

 
Chief Officer’s name 
Title 

tick 

 
Helen Christmas 
Health Improvement Manager 
01904 724116 
 
Denise Simms 
Senior Partnership Support Officer 
01904 552027. 

 

Report Approved 

 

Date Insert Date 

 

Specialist Implications Officer(s)  List information for all 
Implication: Equalities                               Implication ie Legal 
Name: Evie Chandler                               Name 
Title: Equalities Officer                            Title 
Tel No: (01904) 551704                             Tel No. 
 

All , Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all 

 
 

For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
 

Annex 
 
A – Local Area Agreement Targets 2008 - 2011 
 
 

Background Papers: 
 
None 

 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



2008/9 2009/10 2010/11

Inclusive City NI1
% of people who believe people from different backgrounds get on well together 

in their local area*

Available following 

Places Survey 2008
City of York Council*

Inclusive City NI4 % of people who feel that they can influence decisions in their locality*
Available following 

Places Survey 2008
City of York Council*

Inclusive City NI6 Participation in regular volunteering * 19% 20%* 20%* 23%* City of York Council*

Inclusive City NI7 Environment for a thriving third sector* 22% 23.4%* 24.8%* 26.1%* City of York Council*

City of Culture NI8 Adult participation in sport * 24.80% 26.8%* 27.8%* 28.8%*
City of York Council*, York & North 

Yorkshire Primary Care Trust

Safer City NI16 Serious acquisitive crime rate* 22.5 / 1000 pop 20.3* 19.3* 18.3*
North Yorkshire Police (Crime & Disorder 

Reduction Partnership)*

Safer City NI17 Perceptions of anti-social behaviour* 14% 13%* 13%*
To be set following 

2008 Place Survey *

North Yorkshire Police (Crime & Disorder 

Reduction Partnership)*

Safer City NI19 Rate of proven re-offending by young offenders*
Not available until Nov 

08
Youth Offending Team*

Safer City NI30 Re-offending rate of prolific and priority offenders*
Not available until 

end June 08
20%* TBC * TBC * Probation/LCJB*

Safer City NI38 Drug-related (Class A) offending rate*
Not available until 

Summer 2008

North Yorkshire Police (Drug & Alcohol 

Action Team)*

Safer City NI39 Alcohol-harm related hospital admission rates* 1,294 per 100,000 1,544 per 100,000* 1,620 per 100,000* 1,675 per 100,000*
North Yorkshire & York Primary Care 

Trust*

Safer City NI47 People killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents* 118 (2007) 113* 87* 81* City of York Council*

Healthy City NI56 Obesity among primary school age children in year 6* 16% 15.44%* 15.4%* 15.4%*
North Yorkshire & York Primary Care 

Trust*

Learning City NI81 Inequality gap in the achievement of a level 3 qualification by the age of 19*
To be set by end 

June 08

To be set by end 

June 08 *

To be set by end 

June 08 *

To be set by end 

June 08 *
Learning & Skills Council*

City of Culture NI110 Young people's participation in positive activities*
Not available until Nov 

08
City of York Council*

Healthy City NI112 Under 18 conception rate* 34% -32.2%* -41.1%* -50%*
City of York Council*, North Yorkshire & 

York Primary Care Trust

Safer City NI115 Substance misuse by young people*

12% (2007 results 

for drunk alcohol 1 

or 2 times in the last 

4 weeks)

11.75%* 11.5%* 11.25%* City of York Council*

Inclusive City NI116 Proportion of children in poverty* 14% (2006) 12.1%* 11.6%* 11.2%* City of York Council*, Jobcentre Plus

Learning City NI117 16 to 18 year olds who are not in education, training or employment (NEET) *
 3.9% (Nov 07-

Jan08)

3.7% (Nov 08 - Jan 

09)*

3.5% (Nov 09 - Jan 

10)*

3.3% (Nov 10 - Jan 

11)*
City of York Council*

LOCAL IMPROVEMENT TARGETS (DESIGNATED)

Placeholder, target setting deferred *

Placeholder, target setting deferred *

Placeholder, target setting deferred *

Priority

Partners who have signed-up to the 

target and any which are acting as 

lead partner/s (shown with a *)

NI
Indicator(s), including those from national indicator set (shown with 

a *)
Baseline

Local Improvement Target (including those to be 

designated shown with a *)

Meaningful improvement in the level from the 2008 Places Survey 

baseline to the 2010 Places Survey final measure, subject to 

response rate *

Meaningful improvement in the level from the 2008 Places Survey 

baseline to the 2010 Places Survey final measure, subject to 

response rate *

York's LAA 2008-11 Annex A

P
a
g
e
 2

3



2008/9 2009/10 2010/11

Priority

Partners who have signed-up to the 

target and any which are acting as 

lead partner/s (shown with a *)

NI
Indicator(s), including those from national indicator set (shown with 

a *)
Baseline

Local Improvement Target (including those to be 

designated shown with a *)

Healthy City NI120 All-age all cause mortality rate*

Male 663 per 

100,000  Female 

440 per 100,000 

(2006)

Male 658*   Female 

428*

Male 643*   Female 

419*

Male 628*   Female 

410*

North Yorkshire & York Primary Care 

Trust*, City of York Council

Healthy City NI130
Social care clients receiving Self Directed Support (Direct Payments and 

Individual Budgets)*
124.8 174.5* 208.4* 251.7* City of York Council*

Healthy City NI135
Carers receiving needs assessment or review and a specific carer’s service, or 

advice and information*
10.18% (2006/07) 18.75%* 20.18%* 21.55%* City of York Council*

Healthy City NI141 Number of vulnerable people achieving independent living* 66.8% 68.5%* 70%* 72%* City of York Council*

Thriving City NI152 Working age people on out of work benefits* 7.4% 7.1%* 6.8%* 6.4%* City of York Council*, Jobcentre Plus

Inclusive City NI155 Number of affordable homes delivered (gross)*
125 (5 year 

average)
165* 280* 350* City of York Council*

Inclusive City NI156 Number of households living in temporary accommodation* 209 170* 120* 110* City of York Council*

Learning City NI163 Working age population qualified to at least NVQ level 2 * 73.3% APS 75.8%* 78.3%* 80.8%* Learning & Skills Councl*

Thriving City NI165 Working age population qualified to at least NVQ level 4 * 33.8% APS 34.8%* 35.8%* 36.8%*
City of York Council*, Learning & Skills 

Council, Yorkshire Forward (RDA)

Thriving City NI166 Average earnings of employees in the area*

0.9758 ratio to 

England average for 

1997-2006

0.9758* 0.99* 1.00* City of York Council*

Sustainable City NI167 Congestion - average journey time per mile during the morning peak* 3 min 48 sec 4 min 0 sec* 4 min 0 sec* 4 min 0 sec* City of York Council*

Thriving City NI171 VAT registration rate * 
Not available until 

Autumn 2008
City of York Council*

Sustainable City NI186 Per capita CO2 emissions in the local area.* 7.3t -4%* -8%* -12%* City of York Council*

Sustainable City NI187
Tackling fuel poverty - people receiving income based benefits living in homes 

with a low energy rating*

low = 4.7%    high = 

15.1%

low = 4.4%*    high = 

15.4%*

low = 4.0%*    high = 

15.8%*

low = 3.7%*    high = 

16.1%*
City of York Council*

Sustainable City NI191 Residual household waste per household* 663kg 640kg* 617kg* 611kg* City of York Council*

Sustainable City NI197 Improved local biodiversity - active management of local sites*
28% (to be revised 

Oct 08)
35%* 45%* 65%* City of York Council*

Inclusive City NI54 Services for disabled children*
Not available till 

09/10

Not to be set, will 

commence 09/10

Not to be set, will 

commence 09/10

Not to be set, will 

commence 09/10
City of York Council*

City of Culture NI57 Children's participation in PE and sport*
Not available till 

09/10

Not to be set, will 

commence 09/10

Not to be set, will 

commence 09/10

Not to be set, will 

commence 09/10

City of York Council*, North Yorkshire & 

York Primary Care Trust

LOCAL INDICATORS

Placeholder, target setting deferred *

York's LAA 2008-11 Annex A

P
a

g
e
 2

4



2008/9 2009/10 2010/11

Priority

Partners who have signed-up to the 

target and any which are acting as 

lead partner/s (shown with a *)

NI
Indicator(s), including those from national indicator set (shown with 

a *)
Baseline

Local Improvement Target (including those to be 

designated shown with a *)

Learning City NI102

Achievement gap between pupils eligible for free school meals and their peers 

achieving the expected level at Key Stages 2 and 4*

30.3% (KS2)   

31.2% (KS4) 

(2006/7 academic 

year)

28% (KS2) 29% 

(KS4) (2007/8 

academic year)

26% (KS2) 27% 

(KS4) (2008/9 

academic year)

24% (KS2) 25% 

(KS4) (2009/10 

academic year)

City of York Council*

NI 111 First time entrants to the Youth Justice System aged 10-17* 379 TBC Youth Offending Team*

Healthy City NI128 DELAYED - User reported measure of respect and dignity in their treatment* DELAYED DELAYED DELAYED DELAYED City of York Council*

Healthy City NI139
People over 65 who say that they receive the information, assistance and 

support needed to exercise choice and control to live independently*

Not available till 

09/10

Not to be set, will 

commence 09/10

Not to be set, will 

commence 09/10

Not to be set, will 

commence 09/10
City of York Council*

Learning City NI164 Working age population qualified to at least NVQ level 3* 53.9% APS 56% 58% 60% Learning & Skills Councl*

Sustainable City NI188 Adapting to climate change* Level 0 Level 1 Level 1 Level 2 City of York Council*

Learning City -
CYP8.10: % of pupils living in the 30% most deprived areas in the country 

(IDACI) gaining 5 A*-C, including maths and English, at GCSE

25% (2005/6 

academic year) 29% 

(2006/7 academic 

year)

33% 35% 37% City of York Council*

Thriving City -

EDE1.4: Maintain percentage difference between York and regional median 

and 25% percentile figures for residents pay in York (av. gross weekly 

earnings).

71.9% (average 

02/07)
72% (average 06/08) 72% (average 07/09) 72% (average 08/10) City of York Council*

Healthy City -
HCOP1.1: Reduce health inequalities within the local area, by narrowing the 

gap in all-age, all-cause mortality

Average: 

56.8/10,000 Lowest 

Quintile: 74/10,000 

Ratio: 1.3(2004/05 

average)

Average: 59.1 

Lowest Quintile: 72 

Ratio: 1.22(2006-

2008)

Average: 58.6 

Lowest Quintile: 71 

Ratio: 1.21(2007-

2009)

Data expected Sept 

2008

North Yorkshire & York Primary Care 

Trust*, City of York Council

Sustainable City - BVPI 219b: Conservation Area Appraisals undertaken 1 4 2 2 City of York Council*

City of Culture - LLC14: Adult (16+) participation in physical activity (5 times 30 mins a week)
No baseline 

available

Not to be set, will 

commence 09/10

+1% from 08/09 

baseline once 

assessed

+2% from 08/09 

baseline once 

assessed

City of York Council*

NI 72 Early Years (EYFSP) – to increase achievement for all children at age 5 * 83% 85%

NI 73
Key Stage 2 – to increase proportion achieving level 4+ in both English and 

maths *
Not Req'd 79%

NI 74
Key Stage 3  - to increase proportion achieving level 5+ in both English and 

maths *
Not Req'd 80%

NI 75
Key Stage 4 – to increase proportion achieving 5 A*-C grades at GCSE and 

equiv incl GCSE English and Maths*
56% 61.5%

NI 83 Key Stage 3 – to increase proportion achieving level 5 in science * 83% 84%

DCSF Statutory targets
2007/08 Academic 

Year

2008/09 Academic 

Year

York's LAA 2008-11 Annex A

P
a
g
e
 2

5



2008/9 2009/10 2010/11

Priority

Partners who have signed-up to the 

target and any which are acting as 

lead partner/s (shown with a *)

NI
Indicator(s), including those from national indicator set (shown with 

a *)
Baseline

Local Improvement Target (including those to be 

designated shown with a *)

NI 87 Attendance – to reduce persistent absentee pupils in secondary schools Not Req'd 5.7%

NI 92 Early Years (EYFSP) – to narrow the achievement gap at age 5 34% 28.3%

NI 93
Key Stage 1-2 – to improve proportion progressing 2 national curriculum levels 

in English*
Not Req'd 88%

NI 94
Key Stage 1-2  - to improve proportion progressing 2 national curriculum levels 

in Maths*
Not Req'd 84%

NI 95
Key Stage 2-3 - to improve proportion progressing 2 national curriculum levels 

in English*
Not Req'd 42%

NI 96
Key Stage 2-3 - to improve proportion progressing 2 national curriculum levels 

in Maths*
Not Req'd 71%

NI 97
Key Stage 3-4 - to improve proportion progressing equivalent of 2 national 

curriculum levels in English*
Not Req'd 67%

NI 98
Key Stage 3-4 - to improve proportion progressing equivalent of 2 national 

curriculum levels in Maths*
Not Req'd 42%

NI 99
Children in care – to increase proportion achieving level 4+ in English at Key 

Stage 2
44.4% 55.5%

NI 100
Children in care – to increase proportion achieving level 4+ in maths at Key 

Stage 2
44.4% 55.5%

NI 101
Children in care – to increase proportion achieving 5 A*-C grades at GCSE and 

equiv incl GCSE English and maths 
23.8% 6.7%

Attendance – to reduce persistent absentee pupils in primary schools Not Req'd [1] Not set

* For each of these targets LAs will be required to provide a breakdown by minority ethnic group as specified in the Local Authority 

Performance Target Regulations.  The groups have been revised for 2009 and now include 2 further groups - Gypsy/Roma and 

Travellers of Irish Heritage. But in the case of CYC targets are not required as we have no cohort of any single ethnicity of less than 

30

[1] Data is not yet available to support LA target setting for reducing persistent absence in primary schools.  We will delay introduction 

of a statutory target for primary school absence until 2009/10.   

York's LAA 2008-11 Annex A

P
a

g
e
 2

6



 

  

 

   

 

Health Scrutiny Committee 3rd November 2008 

 
Dementia Review– Final Draft Report 
 

Background 

1. This review topic developed from ongoing discussions relating to the Health 
Scrutiny work plan. Whilst no formal feasibility report was prepared for this 
topic there had been extensive discussions over a period of time in relation to 
various mental health issues. 

2. At a meeting of the Health Scrutiny Committee held on 31st March 2008 it was 
reported that North Yorkshire and York Primary Care Trust (NYYPCT) were 
undertaking a lot of work around mental health issues and they suggested that 
a complementary piece of work that the Health Scrutiny Committee could 
undertake was around people with dementia accessing secondary care and 
how their needs were being met. Members of the Committee, therefore, agreed 
to undertake a review on this subject. 

Remit 

3. In coming to a decision to review this topic, the Committee recognised certain 
key objectives and the following remit was agreed: 

Aim 

To look at the experience of older people with mental health problems (and 
their families/carers) who access general health services for secondary care in 
order to identify where improvements may be required.  

Key Objectives  

i. Where patients with mental health conditions access general, secondary 
health services, investigate whether their mental health problems are 
recognised and whether the connection is made between them and the 
required treatment. 

 
ii. To identify ways in which healthcare professionals may assist patients with 

mental health conditions to overcome the barriers they face when accessing 
secondary care. 

 
iii. To investigate ways of improving the safety of patients with mental health 

conditions and the secondary healthcare providers who have contact with 
them. 

 

Agenda Item 5Page 27



iv. To develop initiatives for improving the experiences of mental health 
patients using general, secondary health care and their families/carers. 

 

Consultation 
 

4. As part of the review the following organisations and individuals were 
consulted: 

� York Older People’s Assembly 
� Age Concern, York 
� Alzheimer’s Society 
� York Carer’s Forum 
� York Carer’s Centre 
� Epilepsy Action 
� York & District MIND 
� York LINk (Local Involvement Network) 
� Individual Carers 
� City of York Council Social Services Department 
� North Yorkshire & York Primary Care Trust (NYYPCT) 
� York Hospital Foundation Trust 
� Yorkshire Ambulance Service (YAS) 
� Local GPs 
� Local Medical Committee 

 

Information Gathered 

 

5. During the course of this review, at informal sessions and formal meetings 
Members gathered the following evidence. Many representatives of the 
organisations listed above attended one of the informal sessions. 

Evidence received from carers 

6. Information was received from several relatives and carers and their 
experiences are detailed below: 

Experience 1 

� A carer who had looked after a relative with dementia for 12 years had 
had both good and bad experiences when her relative had accessed 
secondary care services. When her relative had been diagnosed with 
cancer the consultant had been excellent and had made sure that the 
patient understood what was being said. The carer was involved 
throughout the consultation and in instances where the patient became 
confused or answered incorrectly the carer interceded on the patient’s 
behalf. She said that people suffering with dementia often understood 
what was being said but found it difficult to remember details. 

� The carer had kept a diary during the last days of her relative’s life and 
this recorded some of her experiences. When her relative was diagnosed 
with terminal cancer she was admitted to the Elderly Medical Unit at York 
Hospital. The senior doctor arrived and refused to let the carer be present 

Page 28



during his examination of the patient and drew the curtain in front of her. 
He did not take the fact that the patient was also suffering from dementia 
into consideration. 

� The patient was told that she needed surgery but the carer was unclear as 
to how this information had been communicated to the patient or whether 
the patient had understood and remembered what she had been told. 

� The patient was subsequently transferred to a ward where there was no 
senior sister on duty. The carer explained to a member of staff on the 
ward that another relative was travelling long distance to see the patient 
and asked if it was okay for the patient to be briefly visited outside of the 
usual visiting hours. The carer was spoken to very rudely and comments 
were made about ‘all patients having dementia and if she allowed this visit 
then they would all want it’. The carer felt that these comments were 
inappropriate. 

� The carer had also requested that staff use E45 cream on the patient’s 
sores but this request was ignored and consequently the patient became 
uncomfortable but was unable to express this to staff.  

� The patient was sat in a chair for 4 hours, which considering her bedsores 
and other ailments was an inappropriate position and would have been 
very painful. 

� Due to the dementia the patient had difficulty swallowing and during the 
course of the patient’s stay in the hospital she was put on an inappropriate 
diet. Staff were informed that the patient had difficulty swallowing and 
needed a different diet and liquid pain relief. The carer was told that they 
could not provide this unless they had evidence that the patient could not 
swallow from the speech therapist. The speech therapist was not 
available as it was the weekend and it was 72 hours after admittance 
before a visit was organised. 

� The carer requested that her relative be admitted to a Hospice. The 
Doctor that she spoke to was new and did not know the name of the 
Hospice and had to ask the carer.  

� The patient was finally referred to the palliative care nurse who did not 
come until late in the day. The ward they were in was noisy and had very 
little privacy and was unsuitable for meetings of this nature. The palliative 
nurse agreed that a Hospice bed was appropriate. A bed was available 
but there was no ambulance available to transport the patient and the 
carer was told that the transfer would take place the next day but only if 
the ambulance wasn’t needed for an emergency. 

� The patient was unconscious when transferred to the Hospice and passed 
away early the next morning. The carer likened the patient’s experiences 
to that of a third world death. 

Page 29



� The carer felt that the staff at the hospital had not been sufficiently trained 
to deal with patients who had dementia and any training that had been 
given to staff had not implemented. 

Experience 2 

� An e-mail was received from a carer who raised concerns that dementia 
patients attending York Hospital for unrelated conditions may not be 
recognised as suffering from dementia and it may not taken into account 
when communicating with them. They may be asked to carry out certain 
procedures, or take a new medication, but have forgotten what is asked of 
them before they leave the hospital. Her relative, who had recently been 
diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease, had to attend the pacemaker clinic 
as an outpatient.  The carer had offered to accompany her relative, but 
the relative had refused this request, as she did not recognise that she 
had memory problems. The carer contacted PALS (Patient Advice and 
Liaison Services) at the hospital and requested to be told of any 
instructions that had been given to her relative; the request was refused 
and the carer still has no idea of what her relative was told at that visit. 

� The above carer feels that dementia patients often present extremely well 
to strangers. Busy clinic staff may not have access to a patient's full 
records, or may not look at anything other than the condition they are 
dealing with.  It would then be very likely that advice given would not be 
remembered or carried out.  If somebody was admitted to hospital then it 
would become obvious to ward staff if their patient had memory problems; 
but with fast appointments in clinics it would be very difficult to recognise 
that her relative had dementia unless you were talking to her for at least a 
quarter of an hour, which is most unlikely with the lack of time available to 
individual appointments. 

7. A representative of the Alzheimer’s Society outlined some of the experiences 
they had been informed of. These are detailed below: 

Experience 3 

� A person with dementia may have no understanding of what is wrong with 
them. Staff on the ward were not proactive in stopping a patient walking 
on a broken leg and risking further injury.  

� The patient did not understand that she was having a bath and became 
very alarmed. The patient’s hair was washed but not dried.  

� The carer was always happy to help feed the patient and saw this type of 
relative support as essential in ensuring patients with dementia got 
properly fed during their hospital stay. She felt that staff sometime 
objected to her helping with these basic tasks and is opposed to any 
restriction on visiting hours that excludes visitors during mealtimes.  

� Both of the patient’s hearing aids (clearly labelled with the patient’s name) 
went missing during the stay. This made communication impossible. 

Page 30



Before they went missing the carer checked the batteries, as staff did not 
see this as part of their role. 

Experience 4 

� A person with dementia was admitted to York Hospital from a local care 
home where the care provided was excellent. Her carer and relative felt 
that the ward staff were only concerned with the physical damage (broken 
leg) and ‘hadn’t got a clue’ about the patient’s dementia. The ward sister 
was sympathetic but admitted that staff did not have the relevant expertise 
and they relied on relatives/carers to look after patients with dementia. 

� When the patient’s blood pressure was taken she was frightened and staff 
did not understand that simple procedures like this can be terrifying for 
people with dementia.  

� The doctor had prescribed morphine but the nursing staff seemed very 
reluctant to administer this. The carer/relative had found a glass of water 
spilt on the floor after the patient had refused to take paracetamol.  

� The carer/relative was able to feed the patient at meal times but 
sometimes arrived when food had already been left out. The patient had 
no understanding that the food that had been left out was for her. The 
carer/relative has since raised concerns that visiting is no longer allowed 
during mealtimes, which could result in patients with dementia not eating. 

Experience 5 

� A patient with Alzheimer’s and severe sight impairment was admitted to 
hospital at the request of her GP. Both the Alzheimer’s and the sight 
impairment were pointed out to staff but despite this there was no 
supervision or help with meals or medication.  

� During visiting hours medication was often found spilt all over the bed 
table and the floor and was left for relatives/carers to clear up. The 
patient’s relative felt that she went without food and medication and staff 
seemed unconcerned. The relatives were very concerned especially as 
another confused patient was witnessed picking up the discarded 
medication.  

� Relatives asked permission to visit the patient at mealtimes; the ward 
sister agreed to this. On arrival a staff nurse pointed to a notice on the 
wall and said, ‘can you not read that visitors are not allowed at meal 
times.’ On being informed that the ward sister had given permission for 
the lady to be fed, she turned her back and walked off.  

� Whenever there was a change of staff the family felt that they had to start 
all over again as there had been no real communication between staff. 
When first admitted to York Hospital the patient could walk.  

� The only time the patient got out of her chair by the bed was when 
relatives walked her up and down the ward as the staff said it took 3 or 

Page 31



more people to get her to stand up. By the time she was discharged she 
was completely dependent and unable to walk.  

� After 4 months the patient was sent to a special ward for older people with 
mental health difficulties at Selby Hospital because it was felt that being 
on a general ward with sick patients was not good for her. Although the 
patient was meant to be based on this ward the actual practice was to 
move her to the ward during the day and return her to the general ward at 
night, which was a confusing and disorientating experience for someone 
suffering from dementia.  

� After 5 months the relatives received a telephone call to say that the 
patient would be discharged the following day. No arrangements had 
been made for care or appropriate equipment to be provided to the 
relatives/carers. On being taken home a care package was arranged to 
help the family care for their relative at home but after only one day the 
care staff refused to return because the family had not been provided with 
a hoist to move the patient with. This left the relatives, who both had back 
problems, to cope with all the lifting. 

Evidence received from voluntary services 

8. Several voluntary organisations gave evidence at the session and this is set 
out below: 

Age Concern 

9. A representative of Age Concern read out an e-mail a colleague had sent her. 
This highlighted the issue of people with dementia who live alone and their 
relationship with their GPs. This detailed the case of a dementia sufferer who 
lives alone in one of the suburbs of York. This person sometimes makes 
appointments to see their GP and then forgets to tell the Age Concern 
representative. They would then struggle with things such as booking taxis and 
collecting prescriptions. In one recent incident the person had been given a 
letter by her GP to go for an X-ray. It was only after persuading the receptionist 
at the surgery to look up this information that Age Concern were aware and 
were able to assist the patient to the appointment. The Age Concern 
representative has since spoken to the GP and they now work closely to 
support the needs of the person with dementia. 

10. The Age Concern representative mentioned another incident of a lady having 
been given a hospital appointment. The lady had forgotten what the 
appointment was for and when Age Concern tried to assist her they were 
denied any information, as they were not next of kin. 

11. On a visit to one of the elderly persons’ wards at York Hospital the Community 
Services Manager at York Age Concern witnessed elderly patients crying out 
for different reasons; all of whom were being ignored.  She felt that because 
the patients were elderly then nobody was talking to them.  She felt that it was 
much easier to support patients and their families/carers once a diagnosis of 
dementia had been.  

Page 32



 

Older People’s Assembly 

12. A representative of the Older People’s Assembly thought that the evidence 
received during the course of the evidence gathering session was frightening, 
especially for single older people. Dementia was a disease that slid slowly into 
people’s lives and did not happen overnight. When all the things that had so far 
been discussed were combined with a non-family orientated GP service that 
only offered people 10 minutes slots and seldom came out to visit them in their 
own homes then this could be said to accentuate the problem of loneliness. He 
also felt that care workers were poorly paid and staff needed to look holistically 
at a patient’s circumstances. 

Alzheimer’s Society 

13. The Alzheimer’s Society offers a befriending service for carers and has had 
recently had some lottery funding. They are shortly hoping to offer a 
befriending service to people with dementia.  

14. The Alzheimer’s Society had put together a leaflet entitled ‘This is me’. The 
leaflet would include information on an individual patient i.e.: photo, date of 
birth, primary carer, medication, diet, and assistance required. Patients/carers 
could hand this leaflet to a member of staff in the hospital to inform them of 
details that they would need to know. At the moment the Society were trying to 
introduce the idea of the leaflet into hospitals. Some nursing homes had 
already agreed to their use and had found them very useful. 

MIND 

15. The Director of the York & District branch of MIND reiterated that they too 
offered a befriending service. He raised the concern of dementia sufferers 
becoming dehydrated, as they couldn’t always take liquids without assistance. 
He also said that if a patient was happy with their care they were more likely to 
accept that they needed it and more successful relationships tended to be built. 
He also raised concerns regarding the access and support the traveller 
community had in relation to dementia care as they were a hard to reach group 
that were often overlooked. They were likely to either get lost in the system or 
forgotten and early intervention and pro-active responses, along with intensive 
support could be beneficial and make a huge difference. Discussions drew out 
the need for sensitivity in relation to diverse cultural needs. 

Other 

16. Both MIND and Age Concern also offered befriending services. The 
Alzheimer’s Society also offered a ‘care and coping’ course which ran 
continuously. 

17. The Media and Campaign Officer for the Alzheimer’s Society said that there 
was still a huge stigma surrounding dementia and it was important to stress 
that people could still live productive and useful lives after diagnosis. 

Page 33



18. The Age Concern representative said that some Ward Committees had 
provided monies for community support workers. Even if they only visited 
people once of twice a year they could assist with the identification of those 
with the early stages of dementia. The support workers also took elderly 
persons to social events to help avoid loneliness and depression. Members of 
the Committee asked if statistical information on the number of care workers 
funded by Ward Committees could be provided and Age Concern agreed to 
look into this. 

Evidence received from service providers 

19. Several Service Providers attended the session and provided the following 
information: 

York Hospital & North Yorkshire and York Primary Care Trust (PCT) 

20. The Directorate Manager for Elderly Services at York Hospital stressed that 
they were now dealing with an aging population, which put strains on the 
available resources. There had been recent investment in terms of staffing 
but some of the stories that had been heard today had highlighted problems 
caused by a lack of staff. There were some wider training issues around 
dealing with patients with dementia when they were admitted to hospital for 
secondary care and these needed to be explored. It was known that 50% of 
people that were admitted to hospital had mental health problems. There was 
also an increase in the numbers of people being diagnosed with dementia. 
The length of stay in hospital for a patient with a mental health problem 
tended to be longer than those without and there were rarely enough 
activities to keep them occupied. 

21. The Hospital, along with their colleagues in the PCT, had been investigating 
the possibilities of a ‘psychiatric liaison service’. Discussions indicated that 
this was a multi-agency scheme, which unfortunately had been stalled due to 
a lack of funding. There was a need to push this further forward to provide the 
link between the community and the hospital. A lot could be gained if there 
could be a liaison between interested groups. At the present time the 
‘psychiatric liaison service’ does not exist although a pilot had been 
undertaken some time ago. The pilot scheme had produced some clear 
anecdotal evidence on the benefits of the service. Earlier work had shown 
that reductions could be made in a patient’s length of stay with the use of a 
liaison service. There was clear anecdotal evidence that there was a need for 
the service to be used before and after hospital admissions. 

22. There were proposals for a new scheme that would allow care workers to go 
into people’s homes immediately after discharge from hospital. These 
workers would be specifically trained to deal with the needs of the people 
they were assisting. It would be rapid response care but for short periods of 
time. 

23. She also acknowledged that there was a need to improve staff attitudes and 
support for staff whilst at the same time looking at involving carers more. 

Page 34



24. Representatives of York Hospital confirmed that they had recently set up a 
new protected mealtimes initiative.  Those patients who needed assistance at 
mealtimes were served their meals on a red tray so that staff could easily 
identify them. Training had been provided to all staff and nutrition audits were 
undertaken. 

25. One of the problems with mealtimes had been that things carried on as 
normal throughout them. Under the new initiative visitors are not allowed 
during mealtimes, doctors do not visit (except in emergencies) and staff do 
not undertake duties other than helping the patients with their meals. The new 
initiative would be monitored. 

26. Staff were wary of over diagnosing or making too early a diagnosis of 
dementia in patients. 

27. Members of the Committee and representatives of the NYYPCT discussed 
the possibility of pooling training resources with Bootham Park Hospital. 
NYYPCT confirmed that there were no problems with staff accessing training 
at other venues the only issues related to the suitability of different courses 
for staff at different levels. 

Specialist Nurse for Mental Health (York Hospital) 

28. The Specialist Nurse for Mental Health (York Hospital), who worked mainly in 
the elderly units, said that her role was mainly reactive rather than proactive. 
When a patient on a ward was causing a problem then she would assess the 
situation and offer advice on possible solutions. She felt that she offered a 
good service but was a one-member team. She would only offer advice on a 
patient in the early stages of dementia if she were called in because the 
patient was causing a problem. She felt that there was a need for training in 
mental health issues and that attitudes towards mental health problems 
needed to be changed. Discussions were had around how much training 
medical staff in other directorates had on mental health issues and it was 
generally agreed that there was a lot of room for improvement.  

City of York Council 

29. The Service Manager for the Social Work Department at City of York Council 
(CYC) pointed out that there should be a named nurse for each patient on a 
hospital ward. Further discussion identified that carers and relatives were not 
always familiar with hospital systems and may not know how to access this 
information. 

30. She raised the fact that consultants and doctors that worked on the elderly 
wards had different attitudes towards the care of those with dementia than 
those working in other areas of the hospital. She said that it was very easy for 
people with dementia to come into hospital and be discharged without their 
mental health needs being noticed. If a patient did not ‘cause problems’ or a 
problem is not highlighted by staff then their mental health could easily go 
unnoticed. 

 

Page 35



Evidence from front line staff at York Hospital 

31. Members visited front line staff at York Hospital on 6th October 2008. Notes of 
the comments made in relation to their experiences of caring for patients 
suffering from dementia who accessed secondary care are attached at Annex 
B to this report. 

Evidence from Yorkshire Ambulance Service (YAS) 

32. At a formal meeting on 6th October the Committee received evidence from the 
Locality Manager at YAS. He made the following points: 

o Ambulance personnel were usually the patient’s first line of contact after a 
GP and they received very little guidance in relation to patients that were 
affected by dementia.  

o When responding to 999 calls ambulance personnel were often unaware 
of what type of call they were attending as only basic information had 
been obtained. 

o Ambulance crews analysed each case and situation on arrival but they 
were trained to obtain as much information from those at the scene as 
possible, this included information given by relatives and carers. 

o Ambulance personnel did not receive specific training on dementia. 
o Staff were trained on the requirements of the new Mental Capacity act 

2005 and a Safeguarding Adults policy would shortly be ratified by the 
Trust. 

o Crews were instructed to contact Social Services if they felt that an elderly 
patient was at risk. 

o Every 999/emergency situation was different and crews learned by 
experience over a period of time. 

o Crews were only with patients for a short period of time compared with 
other health professionals. 

o Any training was good but ambulance personnel already had to learn a 
great deal of information in a short period of time. 

o They received very few complaints in relation to the way they catered for 
those with dementia. 

o Although staff were experienced they could miss signs if patients had 
trauma or were dehydrated. 

o Relatives/carers were always encouraged to travel with patients in the 
ambulance and this included staff from residential homes accompanying 
residents to hospital. 

 
Evidence received from other sources 

Response from the Local Medical Committee 

33. Details of the response received from the Local Medical Committee is 
attached at Annex C to this report. 

Other documents received in Evidence 

34. The following additional documents had been circulated to Members during 
the course of the review and had been received in evidence: 

Page 36



o National Dementia Strategy for England update September 2008 (Annex 
D) 

o Care on a Hospital Ward – a leaflet produced by the Alzheimer’s Society 
(Annex E) 

o An e-mail from Dr David Geddes regarding carers’ names being logged 
on patients’ notes (Annex F) 

 

Issues Arising 
 

35. The following issues arose out of the evidence gathered during the course of 
the review: 

Accessing & Sharing Information 

o In the age of computerised record keeping is there no way that patients 
who have a diagnosis of dementia, live alone and need more support 
could be flagged up in some way 

o Different service providers had different computer systems and these 
were not always compatible with each other 

o It would be very easy to flag up on GP notes if a patient had dementia & 
no relatives. The Voluntary Organisations such as Age Concern and 
Alzheimer’s Society would then be able to assist 

o There was difficulty sharing confidential information across agencies. 
o Is there a way that certain information could be shared with voluntary 

organisations to enable them to assist their clients 
o Members expressed concern that the Strategic Health Authority (SHA) 

should be attempting to change the excellent EMISWEB intranet system 
used by GPs and pointed out that a compatible IT system should be used 
across all agencies. 

 
Involvement of Carers/Relatives 
 
o Older people and their families often did not know how to deal with the 

early stages of dementia (pre-diagnosis) and were often not given enough 
support. Once a patient was ‘in the system’ they (and their families/carers) 
were more likely to get the support they needed 

o The importance of keeping carers/relatives involved during a patient’s stay 
in hospital 

o Poor pay for care workers 
o There was a fine balance between knowing when to ask the patient 

questions and when to ask the carer/relative. It was noted that people with 
dementia could be convincing. 

o There was a need to improve carer experiences. 
 

Attitudes towards dementia 
 

o There is a lot of ignorance surrounding dementia and many people do not 
know how to deal with parents who are incapacitated by it. Better publicity 
may help 

o Attitudes towards mental health needed to be changed 
 

Page 37



Dementia patients and the hospital environment 
  

o The importance of keeping carers/relatives involved during a patient’s stay 
in hospital 

o Hospital visiting times and supervision at meal times 
o Practical considerations are very important when a patient is in hospital 

(i.e. working hearing aids, whether a patient can eat and drink unaided) 
o Clinicians in ‘short appointment clinics’, such as the outpatients’ clinics 

may not always have full medical history on hand and may not recognise 
that a patient has memory problems/dementia 

o Hospital staff do not always talk to relatives/carers but amongst 
themselves 

o It is sometimes difficult to get hospital staff to take on board the concerns 
that carers have or to listen to the information that they can provide about 
the needs of the patient 

o Carers/relatives are not necessarily familiar with hospital systems. Is there 
anything that can be done to change this? 

o How should the needs of elderly people, especially those with dementia, 
be met when attending hospital appointments and during hospital stays? 

o There was a lack of private space for meetings and assessments to take 
place in the hospital environment 

 
Training 
 

o Those who worked on elderly wards did not receive additional training in 
caring for patients with dementia. 

o It was unfortunate that a forum arranged on mental health issues at York 
Hospital had been cancelled at short notice due to staff unavailability. 

o Members referred to the fact that people were living longer and the elderly 
population was increasing; due to this there would be an increased 
incidence of dementia and there was possibly a need for more formal 
training for ambulance personnel. 

 
Psychiatric Liaison Service 
 

o The fact that a ‘psychiatric liaison service’ did not exist at the present time. 
o Information regarding what a liaison service would provide is attached at 

annex A to this report 
 

Voluntary Organisations 
 
o Not everyone is aware of voluntary organisations and what they can do to 

assist. The general public are not always given a good picture of what is 
out there in terms of moral support 

 
Other 

 
o Family GPs no longer exist and often are not aware of a person’s history 
o We are an aging population and thus there will be more people with 

dementia 
o People’s choices must be respected  

Page 38



o Many people are reluctant to accept that they have dementia 
o There was a fine balance between knowing when to ask the patient 

questions and when to ask the carer/relative. It was noted that people with 
dementia could be convincing. 

o The need to maintain the health and safety of the patient at all times and 
for positive relationships to be built. 

o Of the twelve benchmarks of ‘essence of care’ significant developments 
had been made in all areas apart from mental health. 

 

Analysis 
 

36. Members analysed the evidence and issues arising set out above at an 
informal meeting held on 21st October 2008. Their considerations led to the 
draft recommendations below. 

37. Representatives of service providers and commissioners will have an 
opportunity to comment on the draft recommendations at the formal 
meeting on 3rd November 2008. 

Corporate Priorities 
 

38. The review relates to the following corporate priority: 

‘Improve the health and lifestyles of the people who live in York, in 
particular among groups whose levels of health are the poorest.’ 

Options 
 

39. Having considered the information contained within this report and 
associated annexes, Members may decide to amend and/or agree the 
recommendations within the report. 

Implications 
 

40. Financial – There are no known direct financial implications for the Local 
Authority associated with the recommendations in this report. The 
Committee are mindful that there may be some financial implications for 
other health service providers in terms of providing funding to develop the 
Psychiatric Liaison Service and training of staff. 

41. Legal – Section 3(3) of the ‘The Local Authority (Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees’ Health Scrutiny Functions) Regulations 2002’ states that 
‘Where an overview and scrutiny committee requests a response from a 
local NHS body to whom it has made a report or recommendation, that 
body shall respond in writing to the Committee within 28 days of the 
request.’ 

42. There are no know Human Resources (HR), Equalities or other implications 
associated with the recommendations in this report. 

 

Page 39



Risk Management 
 

43. There are no known risks associated with this report. 

Recommendations 
 

44. In light of the above report Members are asked to agree the following 
recommendations: 

1. That the York Hospital Trust, in liaison with other appropriate service 
providers* be encouraged to develop and implement the Psychiatric 
Liaison Service (Annex A). The development of this programme to be a 
benchmark for training and support for staff working with dementia 
patients who access secondary care. 

*The Yorkshire Ambulance Service is to be included amongst the 
service providers, whilst acknowledging the unique nature of their role. 

REASON: To enable the development of the Psychiatric Liaison 
Service to progress. 

2. That all service providers be encouraged to review their arrangements 
for staff training in relation to recognising and working with those with an 
underlying condition of dementia. Any such review should include: 

o Promoting the use of Link nurses and investigating the possibility of 
nominating Link clinicians within defined staffing groups. 

o Investigation of the large gaps in training. 

o  The utilisation of the variety of sources for training provision including 
the Alzheimer’s Society and other voluntary sector organisations. 

o  Investigation into the pooling of resources between service 
providers. 

REASON: To ensure that all staff are adequately trained to care for 
the needs of dementia patients accessing secondary 
care. 

3. That secondary care provider clinicians be encouraged to acknowledge 
the positive contributions that can be made by a patient’s carer to that 
patient’s ongoing programme of treatment (whilst recognising the issues 
surrounding patient confidentiality). Clinicians are also encouraged to 
take the following into consideration: 

o Where it is recognised that there may be an underlying mental health 
condition to provide written details of any medication and/or treatment 
plans to the patient. 

o The issue of carers’ information being logged on a patient’s notes to 
be encouraged as good practice and an ongoing dialogue between 

Page 40



medical practices and the York Carer’s Forum to be maintained to 
allow for effective databases to be kept. 

REASON: To ensure that carers are involved as much as possible 
whilst still recognising the need for patient confidentiality. 

4.  

a. That all service providers be encouraged to work with the relevant 
voluntary organisations (Alzheimer’s Society, MIND, Age Concern, 
Older People’s Assembly etc) to develop new initiatives and to 
promote the awareness of dementia. 

b. That commissioner and service providers discuss the ‘This is Me’ 
initiative further with the Alzheimer’s Society with a view to adopting it 
within their individual organisations. The Committee wished it to be 
known that they were very impressed with this particular initiative. 

REASON: To promote and increase dementia awareness and to 
encourage positive initiatives to be widely and effectively 
used.  

5. That York Hospitals Trust, where possible, be encouraged to adopt a 
flexible approach during a dementia patient’s stay in hospital, for 
example flexibility in hospital visiting hours and flexibility at mealtimes to 
allow carers to assist patients with eating. 

REASON: To involve carers during a patient’s stay in hospital to 
assist them in settling into an unfamiliar environment. 

6. That all relevant parties be encouraged to resolve the ongoing issues 
surrounding the implementation of a universal ‘Shared Care Record 
System’ (Annex C refers). 

REASON: To resolve ongoing issues 

Page 41



 

Contact Details 

Author: Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
Quentin Baker  
Head of Civic, Democratic & Legal Services 
01904 551004 
 

Tracy Wallis 
Scrutiny Officer 
Scrutiny Services 
01904 551714 

Final Draft Report 
Approved 

� Date 23.10.2008 

Specialist Implications Officer 
 
Legal 
 
Quentin Baker  
Head of Civic, Democratic & Legal Services 
01904 551004 

Wards Affected:   All � 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 

Background Papers: 
 

None          
 
Annexes 
 
Annex A Psychiatric Liaison Service 
Annex B Comments from front line staff at York Hospital 
Annex C Response from the Local Medical Committee 
Annex D National Dementia Strategy 
Annex E Care on a Hospital Ward – Information provided by the Alzheimer’s 

Society 
Annex F E-mail from Dr David Geddes 
    
 

Page 42



Annex A 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

CYC – Health Scrutiny – Dementia review  

1st September 2008  

Additional Information from York Hospital  
 

 

WHAT A LIAISON SERVICE WOULD PROVIDE. 

 
 

 

• Improved access to an initial mental health assessment and treatment 
for all patients. 

 
 

• Early screening on admission with regard to mental health needs  
  

•  In depth assessment of mental health need for patient’s in order to 
ensure the appropriate care, treatment and management of these 
needs at the same time as their physical health needs are being met. 

 

•  Ensure suitable risk assessments are undertaken regarding mental 
health need in order to reduce length of stay and prevent further loss of 
independence.  

 

• Optimise and expedite discharge for patients with mental health needs. 
E.g. discharge home with care package instead of nursing/ residential 
home placement. 

 

• Appropriate assessment for transfer to transitional and intermediate 
care for those with mental health needs. 

 

• Reduce readmission rates for this patient group by ensuring 
comprehensive mental health assessment and referral onto specialist 
services. 

 

• Training and awareness sessions for general hospital staff – and 
ongoing modelling of patient centred care. 

 

• Provide a source of information, advice and support to hospital staff 
regarding crisis management for patients in acute distress. 

 

Page 43



Annex A 

• To offer advice and support in developing ongoing plans of care to 
enable staff to deal with challenging behaviours, both during current 
and subsequent admissions. 

 

• Improve joint working across all agencies – particularly when assessing 
ongoing after care needs. Provide a link between Mental Health 
services (NYYPCT), Social Services (CYC) and general hospital 
services.   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Staffing required  
 
 
Team Leader – specialist nurse in post  
Additional nursing  
Occupational Therapist  
2 Sessions of psychiatrist  
Social worker  
Support Staff  
 
 
 
Sue Beckett  
Heather Sweetman  
Dr. Kesavan  
 
September 2008  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



Annex B 

Comments from front line staff at York Hospital 
 
Members of the Committee visited front line staff at the hospital on 
06.10.2008. They spoke to 3 Members of staff from the Trauma and 
Orthopaedic Unit (a Health Care Assistant, a Staff Nurse and a Deputy Sister) 
and also a Matron. They made the following comments in relation to their 
experiences of caring for patients suffering from dementia who accessed 
secondary care: 
 
 Training 
 

� There were large gaps in training provision and Members of staff on 
non-elderly wards did not have sufficient training in caring for patients 
with dementia. 

 
� A forum had been set up for staff in relation to mental health issues but 

most of these had been cancelled at short notice, as staff were 
unavailable to attend. The Matron thought that these could possibly be 
revamped and was willing to explore the possibility of this. 

 
� As part of their general nurse training qualified staff receive a 7 or 8 

week placement that covers caring for people with mental health 
conditions. Much of the time staff were expected to learn about care for 
dementia sufferers ‘as they went along’. The Health Care Assistant 
(HCA) had received no formal training in this respect other than “on the 
job” training/experience. 

 
� There were link nurses for things such as manual handling and 

infection control. It was suggested that there could also be a link nurse 
for mental health. 

 
� Staff felt that formal training in dementia care would be helpful. 

Discussions were had surrounding using a link nurse to do this. The 
link nurse would then cascade information learned down to other 
members of staff on the ward. 

 
� There were twelve benchmarks of ‘essence of care’ and significant 

developments had been made in all areas apart from mental health. 
 

Communication & Provision of Information 
 

� Communication between the patient and members of staff could be 
difficult especially when a carer wasn’t present. 

 
� The information that staff had was often from a printed sheet which 

frequently did not indicate the social needs of a patient. 
 

� If a patient has no carers/family then communication can be very 
difficult as there is very little information regarding the social 

Page 45



Annex B 

background of the patient (i.e. what they like to eat, what their usual 
routines are). 

 
� If the patient is admitted from a care home the care assistant may not 

know them very well (especially if there has been a recent shift 
change). A written handover sheet is given to staff at the hospital when 
the patient is admitted from a care home but if there is not enough 
information on this then staff will ring the care home and ask for more 
information about the patient. This sheet would usually indicate 
whether the patient was suffering from dementia. 

 
� The possibility of a checklist of standard information that staff could 

mark off once received was discussed. 
 

� It was the ‘little things’ that could make a patient feel comfortable such 
as knowing what they liked to be called, what they liked to eat etc. In 
the case of patients with dementia there was a higher need for social 
care even if they were on hospital for a physical problem. 

 
� If a patient had been referred to hospital by a GP then he/she will have 

some knowledge of the patient’s history and this would be passed on to 
staff. 

 
� Discussions were had regarding continuity and staff handovers. 

Communication between staff was good whilst working and when the 
shifts changed.  

 
� Information was also passed on to the multi-disciplinary areas such as 

physiotherapists and occupational therapists. 
 

� Staff should let the bed manager or the Matron know that they need 
extra staff to assist with vulnerable adults and if they want a visit from 
the Specialist Health Nurse. 

 
� A safety briefing was carried out at all shift handovers. Discussion were 

had as to whether this could be elaborated. 
 

� Discussions were had in relation to the ‘This is me’ document that the 
Alzheimer’s Society were developing. Hospital staff thought this was a 
very good idea and would be a useful tool for them. 

 
Hospital Environment & Patient Experience & Safety 
 

� The hospital environment is often alien and therefore frightening for 
patients suffering from dementia. It is common for dementia sufferers 
to feel uncomfortable outside of familiar surroundings. 

 
� A patient will have suffered a traumatic experience (i.e. a fall) that has 

required admission to hospital. When a patient also suffers from 
dementia this can heighten the trauma. 

Page 46



Annex B 

 
� Patients with dementia can often be unsettled when they are unfamiliar 

with their surroundings and the people near them. 
 

� If a patient presents with confusion (but has not been diagnosed with 
dementia) then the staff would initially look at ruling out infection as a 
cause. Once this had been done and if the patient was still confused 
then they would look at exploring whether there was an underlying 
mental health issue causing the problem. They were supported by the 
elderly medicine physicians who would come and visit the patient and 
advise the staff. There was also a Nurse Specialist in Mental Health. 

 
� If a patient does not feel safe and calm then this will have a negative 

impact on the rest of the ward. 
 

� To assist with patient safety patients with similar needs were often kept 
together in one part of the ward to allow staff to keep a closer eye on 
them. 

 
� Patients with dementia often feel more at ease with some personal 

belongings near them. In the surgical wards this is not always possible 
due to the risk of infection. Infection control limited the hospital as to 
what personal belongings a patient could bring with them. 

 
Staff Time Constraints 
 

� Staff on a busy ward (such as trauma and orthopaedics) can 
sometimes struggle to spend time with patients to reassure them that 
everything is okay. 

 
� If a ward is short staffed then it was a struggle at mealtimes. It was also 

more difficult to watch high dependency patients and to prevent 
patients from falling and wandering. 

 
� Some patients on the surgical ward require one to one care for 24 

hours a day and staffing levels had been increased to cope with this 
and ensure patient safety. Staff would still be under pressure at busy 
periods of the day though. 

 
� The Matron liaised regularly with the teams regarding staffing issues. If 

there were issues then, where possible, other staff were sent to assist 
on a ward. 

 
� Mealtimes, drug distribution and answering patient bells often clashed. 

There were some very busy times of the day, especially teatime when 
all of the above happened and patients were still coming back to the 
ward post operation. 

 
� Staff had concerns regarding patient’s dignity when they were 

disorientated. Certain events could be upsetting for staff, patients and 

Page 47



Annex B 

visitors and needed to be avoided. It was important to make the patient 
feel at ease but time did not always allow for this to be as effective as it 
could be. 

 
� There was only one Specialist Mental Health Nurse and if this area 

could be expanded it would be beneficial to all. 
 

Involvement of Carers 
 

� Staff do, where possible, encourage carers to provide information 
about the patient in order to care for them in the most appropriate way.  

 
� Carers are also encouraged to help the patient at meal times and 

normal routines and where possible are incorporated outside of the 
normal visiting times. [Not sure whether this happens on all wards due 
to the protected meal times scheme]. 

 
� Staff try and get patients with dementia to follow a routine that they like 

and this can be achieved with the support of carers and family. 
 

� Staff felt that communication could be improved with more carer 
involvement.  

 
General 
 

� People were living longer and therefore there were more instances of 
dementia in patients. 

 
� Sometimes, in the early stages of dementia, the family would cover up 

for any problems there were. 
 

� The introduction of a Psychiatric Liaison Service would be beneficial 
 

Page 48



Annex C 

Response from the Director of YOR Local Medical Council Limited 

Having read through your paper, I can see where your concern lies, though I 
think almost every GP in York would take offence at the suggestion that family 
doctors no longer exist - most GPs of my age (40's) went into primary care as 
a positive choice to be family Doctors, and care deeply about the relationship 
between their Practices and the local communities. 
 
The system we have is essentially a "shared care record system" between 
primary care and secondary care, it involves software called EMISWEB, 
building a local intranet between GP surgery systems and the Hospital - York 
and Selby are unique in having this system and ideally it should be a national 
example of excellence, but sadly it uses systems that are unpopular with the 
Strategic Health Authority (SHA), and hence gets little publicity from the 
Primary Care Trust (PCT).  
 
Technically, GPs already have access to the hospital IT notes - and now 
consultants have access to summary pages of the GP records, although this 
does require patient/carer consent, so communication at ward level is still key. 
What it means is a Consultant any time of night or day can access the current 
drugs and recent entries for GP records and get a better picture of what has 
gone on, and also access demographic data including contact details. 
 
This system mirrors the intended aims of the National NHS IT system but is 
about 2-3 yrs ahead of national developments, it is at threat as the SHA wants 
all practices to drop the EMIS system and change to an alternative software 
supplier - Systemone, which does not have this functionality. GPs at present 
are resisting this despite intense pressure from both the SHA and PCT as we 
feel for York it would be a backward step. 
 
Every GP has a database of patients with a diagnosis of dementia and every 
GP should be carrying out an annual review of carer contact details - it is part 
of the quality and outcomes framework introduced with the GP contract in 
2003-4, and one of the 157 new targets introduced for GPs at that time. The 
template for that is clearly defined and we are audited on achievement - a 
small payment (£125 annually per average practice of 5800 patients) is made 
to maintain this database. I have attached 2 "screenshots" of our template as 
used locally, which as you can see records whether or not there is a carer (not 
always the case) and contact details - also recording the relationship of the 
carer as well. 
 
 
 

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex D 

National Dementia Strategy for England update 
September 2008 
 
This update is to inform Alzheimer’s Society staff in England about work in 
progress on the Dementia Strategy. An Arena page on the NDSE is in 
development where this update and further information on the Strategy will be 
posted. 
 
1. Publication date change 
The publication date for the NDSE has been changed from October to mid-
November. At this stage there is no specific publication date. 
 
2. OMT sub group 
A cross-directorate Operational Management Team (OMT) group has been 
set up to plan the Society’s response to the NDSE on an ongoing basis. This 
group has met twice and will be meeting monthly for the foreseeable future. 
The purpose of the group is to ensure the Society is prepared to respond to 
the Strategy across the organisation.  
 
Members of the group are Mary Garvey (Services), Linda Seaward (Marketing 
and Publishing), Louise Lakey (Policy), Phil Shoesmith (Business Planning), 
Alison Watt (Fundraising), and Andrew Chidgey (Policy and Campaigns and 
chair of the group). Please contact any of them with questions you may have. 
 
3. A reminder on what the draft Strategy proposes 
The draft National Dementia Strategy for England describes a 5-year 
transformation plan for dementia in England. It has 15 recommendations. 
 
1. Increased public and professional awareness of dementia through public 

awareness campaigns. 
2. An informed and effective workforce through improved training. 
3. Good quality early diagnosis through the development of more memory 

services which can diagnose and treat people with dementia. 
4. Better access to information for people with dementia and their carers 
5. Access to advice through a care adviser. 
6. Better care in hospitals through older people’s mental health liaison teams, 

clinical leads and developed care pathways. 
7. Home care to be provided by a specialist dementia care service. 
8. Improved access to short breaks/respite services. 
9. NHS and local authorities to create joint dementia plans. 
10.  Improved access to intermediate care services where people are 

supported at home to keep them out of hospital, prepare them for hospital 
or to help them to recover from a hospital stay. 

11. Better care in care homes through appointing dementia care leaders, 
specialist healthcare support and getting councils to ask for better 
standards in their contracts. 

12.  Change the system of registration for care homes so that all homes 
should be able to take people with dementia. 

Page 51



Annex D 

13. 13. Make sure there is good information on the delivery of the Strategy in 
the future. 

14. Create a research strategy on research that looks at how different 
research funders can collaborate to improve research efforts. 

15. Support for implementation of the Strategy at a local and national level. 
 
To see the full Strategy please go to www.dh.org.uk/dementia 
 
4. Society consultation response 
The Society has made a formal consultation response to the Department of 
Health on the draft Dementia Strategy consultation, drawing on the views of 
300 carers, 50 people with dementia, and a variety of other staff and 
volunteers. In addition the Society continues to have discussions with the 
Care Services Minister and the civil servants working on the Strategy. 
 
The main points of the submission were as follows: 
 

• This Strategy if implemented effectively within 5 years will make a 
significant difference to quality of life for people with dementia. 

• The Strategy needs new money: The Society estimates that the cost of 
implementing the Strategy will be £600 million per year. This would require 
initial funding of £160 million in year 1 and £260 million in year 2 in order to 
begin changing practice. Over time service redesign will deliver 
efficiencies, but in the short term new money will be required. 

• The vision of the Strategy: Although there must be an emphasis on 
transforming care and support, it must not be forgotten that this Strategy is 
about transforming the experience and lives of people with dementia.  

• Awareness: Before a large-scale public awareness campaign, there is a 
need for robust research at the outset to establish baseline measures of 
the current levels of awareness, knowledge and stigma and the exact form 
that this stigma takes. 

• Workforce development: The Society believes that the Strategy must 
incorporate a much stronger workforce development plan, following the 
precedent set in the End of Life Care Strategy. Although the Department 
does not have the power to make training mandatory, it can ensure 
workforce development through providing strong leadership to drive the 
agenda forward, working with key organisations and through the regulation 
system. 

• Diagnosis: The care and support needs of individuals who do not have a 
clear diagnosis and their potential carers must be outlined.   

• Early intervention: Barriers to low-level interventions, such as the Fair 
Access to Care Services criteria, must be addressed. It is unacceptable to 
have a system that works against providing any help to people with lower 
level and moderate needs.   

• Access to dementia drug treatments: The Strategy is undermined by 
the current NICE guidance, which restricts access to drugs for people in 
the early stages of the disease. The role of dementia drugs in supporting 
people with dementia to live independently for longer must be specified.  

• End of life care: The recently published End of Life Care Strategy did not 
adequately address the specific needs of people with dementia. End of life 

Page 52



Annex D 

care for people with dementia has now fallen between the two strategies 
and must be urgently addressed. 

• Transport: Consideration must be given to transport, which is a vital 
aspect of the infrastructure needed to support the care of people with 
dementia and carers. 

• The needs of individuals: The Society welcomes the fact that the 
Strategy is an inclusive document, however, the importance of considering 
the unique needs of individuals must be highlighted where appropriate, for 
example younger people with dementia, people from black and minority 
ethnic groups and people with learning disabilities. 

 
Key areas where extra detail is needed include: 

• The dementia adviser role: To ensure that the role is provided 
consistently across England, it is vital that there is a clear job specification 
and an understanding of how it fits in with other roles such as outreach 
workers. The Society estimates with dementia care advisers acting to sign 
post people to services and a case load of 200 people, this would require 
between 650 and 950 dementia care advisers. 

• Home care support: The Strategy should further emphasise some of the 
benefits of the different types of support discussed and encourage 
commissioners to support their development.  

• Regulation in care homes:  To ensure that care homes can deliver their 
primary role of providing care to people with dementia, it is vital that the 
new CQC registration requirements EXPLICITLY stipulate that all care 
homes can take people with dementia. 

• Care home capacity: The absolute number of places needed will 
continue to rise and the Strategy must advise commissioners to 
acknowledge and address this issue. 

• Antipsychotic drugs: The DH review must ensure that non-
pharmacological alternatives to drugs are available and implemented. 

• Peer support networks: The Strategy makes some reference to peer 
support networks where people with dementia and carers can support 
each other and learn how to live with dementia. These need increased 
emphasis in the Strategy. 

• Abuse: The Strategy must put in place measures to prevent abuse, 
including adequate training, ongoing support and supervision, and legal 
protection. 

• Personalisation: It is essential that personalisation is a strong thread 
throughout the Strategy, underpinning all the recommendations. 

• Ensuring implementation: Delivering the Strategy will require cross-
governmental working and the Strategy must give consideration to how 
this will be achieved. It is vital that progress is monitored on an annual 
basis, as has been committed to in the Stroke Strategy, with a 
benchmarking activity to lay out the current situation. Leadership at a 
national and regional level is vital for the Strategy’s success. 

• Research: Alzheimer’s Society believes there should be prioritisation of 
funding for dementia research, for example by the Medical Research 
Council.  

 

Page 53



Annex D 

The full submission is on the Society website under consultation responses. 
http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/documents.php?categoryID=200168 
 
Please contact Louise Lakey louise.lakey@alzheimers.org.uk, 0207 423 3581 
or Alice Jarratt alice.jarratt@alzheimers.org.uk, 0207 423 3580 for more 
information. 
 
5. Political influencing update 
Thank you to all branches who have been in contact with their MPs to ask 
them to press the Government for financial commitment to the Strategy. Some 
branches have been able to meet their MP, while others have written. If you 
have not done so, please write to your MPs asking them to press Ivan Lewis, 
Care Services Minister for funding. 
 
Central office is building on this work by lobbying target MPs and Peers and at 
the party political conferences. All MPs in England have been contacted. 
 
This week the Society is releasing opinion poll evidence which shows that 
amongst the over 55 year olds (the age group most likely to vote), dementia is 
feared more than cancer, heart disease or stroke. In addition three quarters of 
people cannot explain which political party has the best policies for older 
people. For further details please see the website.  
 
In the October edition of Living with Dementia magazine members of the 
Society in England will be asked to send their MP a ‘Fund the Dementia 
Strategy’ postcard. Branches will be sent a further batch of postcards to 
distribute. 
 
Please contact Sarah Thomas sarah.thomas@alzheimers.org.uk, 0204 423 
3585 or Vicki Combe vicki.combe@alzheimers.org.uk, 0207 423 3584 for 
more details. 
 
6. Regional seminars 
The next round of area forums (October/November) will be provided with 
updates for discussion and possible action. 
 
A series of regional seminars is being arranged for the end of October/early 
November to ensure that staff and volunteers who are in contact with local 
NHS and social care commissioners are in a position to put the case both for 
the Dementia Strategy and for the role of the Society in responding to it. Area 
managers are nominating staff and volunteers to attend these initial events 
which will also put attendees in a position to be able to advise others.  
 
7. Commissioning tool kit 
A tool kit folder for staff and volunteers in contact with health and social care 
commissioners is being created. This will have a booklet setting out the case 
for dementia which will arm our staff with information so they are better placed 
to persuade commissioners about the case for Dementia Strategy 
implementation and will also act as information to leave with commissioners. 
In addition there will be information leaflets about the different aspects of the 

Page 54



Annex D 

service offer that the Society can provide (e.g. Dementia care adviser, 
training…). This information will be available in digital form on Arena by the 
end of October followed as quickly as possible by printed materials. 
 
Please contact Andrew Chidgey for more information 
achidgey@alzheimers.org.uk, 0207 423 3583. 
 
8. Service offer update 
Many staff have asked for advice on what they should be saying to 
commissioners in their discussions about new services.  Because we do not 
yet have a National Dementia Strategy, and cannot be sure exactly what will 
be in it, it is hard to be exact about our contribution to its implementation.  In 
this interim period we need to continue to promote our organisation and its 
services, being positive about our intention to contribute fully to the 
implementation of the new strategy. 
 

• The Society strongly welcomes the focus in the draft Strategy on the need 
for better information services, proposals for dementia adviser role and the 
need for an informed and effective workforce. 

• There now needs to be much greater clarity in the final Strategy document 
about the role of dementia adviser and how it is envisaged it will fit with 
other existing services. 

• The Society believes that the third sector is well placed to provide the new 
dementia adviser service.  We want to be involved, and have begun work 
on developing the dementia adviser service, drawing on our vast 
experience of delivering information and support services to people with 
dementia and their carers. 

• We are developing our information services so that they better meet 
individual needs.  We will develop tools to enable better access to 
information about local services for people with dementia. 

• We will establish demonstration sites around England for the new 
services, where rigorous evaluation will provide evidence of the impact of 
the service on the quality of life of people with dementia. 

• We already have a track record in the delivery of training, and we intend to 
build on this.   

• We are unlikely to publish externally the details of our proposed new 
dementia adviser role and other services until after the launch of the 
National Dementia Strategy in November. 

 
Further information  
An information challenge project group has been established, chaired by Mary 
Garvey.  This group will  

� Develop our information tools and technologies. 
� Develop the role of dementia adviser.  
� Develop demonstration sites that will be fully funded and fully 

evaluated. 
� Communicate about this work. 
 

Work has begun on all the above. A group of staff from across services will 
work on the development of the dementia adviser role. At the time of the 

Page 55



Annex D 

launch of the National Dementia Strategy, we will be ready to share publicly 
the details of our new dementia adviser service. 
  
New services will have some features in common with our existing services.  
There is no intention that they replace these services.  We want more 
services for people with dementia.  In time, particularly when the learning from 
the evaluation becomes available, some of our existing services may adopt 
some of the methodologies and tools of dementia advisers.  Any changes 
resulting from the launch of new services will happen in a planned way. 
 
Please contact Mary Garvey mgarvey@alzheimers.org.uk, 0207 423 3531 for 
more details. 
 
9. PCT letter 
Given that the Dementia Strategy publication date has moved to November 
this will be well after the planning round for the financial year 2009/10 has 
started. The Society will be writing to all PCT Chief Executives in England 
explaining the priorities identified in the Strategy in the next week. If there are 
any Chief Executives who branches or area teams would not like us to write to 
because there is already close contact on this please contact Alice Jarratt by 
emailing alice.jarratt@alzheimers.org.uk or calling 0207 423 3580. 
 
10. External messages 
The communications plan for the National Dementia Strategy for England is 
being reviewed in light of the close of the consultation. An update will be 
posted on Arena including our revised key messages. Meanwhile if you are 
asked for an media interview on the strategy please contact your Regional 
Campaigns and Media Officer or Gayle Wing, head of media relations on 
0207 423 3595 gwing@alzheimers.org.uk for a briefing. 
 

Page 56



www.alzheimers.org.uk

Care on a hospital ward

Someone with dementia may be admitted to a general or specialist hospital
ward either as part of a planned procedure, such as a cataract operation, or
following an accident, such as a fall. Hospital environments can be
disorientating for a person with dementia, and may make them appear more
confused than usual. However, there is much that can be done to help them
adapt to the new environment. They will need reassurance, along with timely
and sensitive support. This factsheet is designed for friends, family or caring
professionals. It covers some of the issues that should be considered and
explains the standards of care that people with dementia and carers should
expect.

Help from hospital staff

Ward staff will not necessarily know that an individual has dementia, or may
lack experience in working with people with dementia, so it is helpful if relatives
and friends can give them information on how dementia is affecting the
individual and suggest ways of assisting and communicating with the person.
This will make it easier for ward staff to ensure that the person with dementia is
comfortable.

Staff should be happy to answer any questions and discuss any issues you
may have. If they seem too busy to talk, ask to make an appointment - ideally
with the named nurse. The named nurse (who is always a trained nurse) will
be responsible for co-ordinating the person's care. This meeting will be an
opportunity to discuss any concerns, and should provide a good basis for
future communication. If any problems arise later, they can then usually be
sorted out through the named nurse. If you want to discuss the person's
condition or treatment in more depth, ask to make an appointment to see the
doctor or the consultant.

Some hospital trusts provide a mental health service. Assessment and advice
from a member of this team can help nursing and medical staff manage any
difficulties the person may be experiencing as a consequence of their
dementia. If you are concerned that the person's dementia is deteriorating, you
may want to make an appointment with the mental health team.

You may also want to make an appointment to see the hospital social worker.
The social worker can advise on a range of matters, such as:

• problems getting to and from the hospital to visit

• benefits

• residential and nursing care

• help at home

• difficulties for carers or friends or family, such as illness, disability, stress or
other commitments that may affect their ability to visit or to continue to care
for the person. These should also be discussed with the named nurse.

Page 1

Page 57



www.alzheimers.org.uk

Information about the person with dementia

It is important that all staff are aware of the person's dementia. The named
nurse should explain to other members of staff how dementia can affect the
person's behaviour and communication. They should also tell staff how the
person prefers to be addressed - for example, informally, such as 'Charlie', or
formally, such as 'Mr Cohen'.

As information can become lost or forgotten, it can help if a friend, carer or
family member writes down some important information about the person with
dementia. This written information can be given to the named nurse at the first
meeting, and should be held in the person's notes. One side of A4 paper is
quite enough. The information should include:

• the name by which the person wishes to be known

• brief details of their normal routines, including whether they need reminders
or support with washing, dressing, going to the toilet, eating and drinking or
taking medication

• information about foods they particularly like or dislike, or any difficulties
they have eating

• illness or pain that may bother them

• any cultural or religious needs

• information about sleeping patterns

• whether the person likes to be active or inactive - for example, if they walk
about - and what can calm them when they are agitated.

It may be helpful to include some tips for staff. For example:

• 'Mr Cohen finds it helpful if people talk slowly and give one piece of
information at a time.'

• 'Saul is more likely to understand if people maintain eye contact while they
are talking to him.'

• 'Miss Sellers can feed herself with a spoon if someone cuts her food up.'

• 'Ravi often rocks and holds his tummy if he is in discomfort or pain.'

It may also help staff to communicate and gain more insight into the person
with dementia if they have details of the person's:

• close family members or friends

• pets

Page 2

Page 58



www.alzheimers.org.uk

• living situation - for example, whether they live with others or alone

• past occupation

• particular interests.

If the person with dementia frequently walks around the ward, this may make
staff anxious. If this is likely, explain that the person finds it comforting to walk
around and that staff will need to accommodate this. You may need to
describe what degree of supervision is required. You could also emphasise the
benefit of involving the person in suitable activities on the ward.

Tips: how you can help

Practical assistance

If you choose, you may be able to help with the person's personal care (for
example, taking them to the toilet or supporting them at mealtimes). If you
would like to do this, discuss it with the named nurse. Other ways in which you
can help might include:

• cleaning spectacles and checking on hearing aids

• making sure clothes are discreetly labelled in case they are mislaid

• thinking of enjoyable pastimes or items to occupy the person's time.

Providing reassurance

• Familiar objects, such as photographs on the bedside table of family
members or a much-loved pet, can be very reassuring for a person with
dementia on an unfamiliar hospital ward. They can also provide staff with a
good talking point. If the person still reads, you could provide a notebook, so
staff and visitors can write messages, reminders and details of when they
are next visiting.

• Noise and bustle on the ward can add to the person's confusion and
heighten their levels of anxiety or agitation - particularly at busy times, such
as ward rounds or visiting hours. You could ask if there is a quiet room or
day room that the person can visit to get away from the bustle and relax in
peace.

Eating and drinking

Page 3

Page 59



www.alzheimers.org.uk

• Mealtimes in a busy hospital environment can be difficult and stressful for a
person with dementia. Make staff aware of any difficulties that the person
has at mealtimes, and how they can help. Make sure the person is given the
option of eating in the dining room, if there is one, or at their bedside if they
prefer.

• Make sure staff help the person with dementia to eat and choose food if
necessary, and don't assume that the person isn't hungry or doesn't want
their food if they don't seem keen to eat it. Some people with dementia
cannot eat their food without reminders and prompts at mealtimes. Staff are
often extra busy at mealtimes, and may be grateful for any help you can
offer in helping the person to eat. You may like to discuss this with the
named nurse.

• If the person has difficulty swallowing, ask if they can be assessed by a
speech and language therapist, or if food can be provided in a soft or
pureed texture. If the person is not eating well, or is losing weight, the
named nurse should contact the hospital dietitian. The dietitian will
co-ordinate a nutritional care plan with nursing and catering staff, which may
involve prescribing high-energy drinks or specific foods. 

• If the person with dementia is very unwell, they may not want to eat or drink.
'Tube feeding' may be suggested as a means to help a person receive food
and fluids. The terms 'nasogastric' or 'gastrostomy' (PEG) tubes are often
used. The decision to tube feed should only be made respecting the wishes
of the patient and in full discussion with carers or relatives.

Medication

• Doctors should discuss the person's medication, and any changes, with the
person with dementia and their carer or relatives.

• If the person is prescribed sedative medication, this may make them more
confused. It may be possible to reduce the dose or stop the medication
altogether. If you have any concerns, discuss these with the doctor. (For
more information about avoiding drugs unless they are really necessary,
see
Factsheet 408: Dementia: Drugs used to reduce behavioural symptoms.)

Complaints

If you have any problems with the person's treatment or care, discuss these
first with the named nurse. He or she should explain why things went wrong
and how they will be put right. Use the following tips to complain effectively:

• Try to start on a positive note by mentioning something you have
appreciated about the person's care.

Page 4

Page 60



www.alzheimers.org.uk

• Try to make the complaint specific - for example, on three occasions you
came in and saw that the drugs on the table had not been taken. It may help
you to have the details written down.

• Try to stay calm.

If it is not possible to sort the problem out on the spot, keep brief notes, as it is
easy to forget details. The notes should include:

• what occurred and when

• who you contacted or discussed this with, and what their response was.

If the problem still cannot be resolved, ask to see the ward manager or make
an appointment with the consultant. Alternatively, you may prefer to contact
the patient advice and liaison service (PALS). PALS acts on behalf of patients
and families, and liaises with hospital staff to help resolve problems and
concerns quickly.

Discharge

Discharges should be planned, and carers or family should receive advance
notice. However, decisions can often be made quickly, so you should begin
preparations as soon as the person goes into hospital. The social worker can
advise on the suitability of residential or nursing care, or on ways of helping
when the person returns home. An occupational therapist can assess the
home environment to advise on any aids to help support the person living at
home. (See Factsheet 453, Hospital discharge.)

If the person has received specific advice and input from a specialist (for
example, a dietitian) while on the ward, make sure follow-up care is arranged.
Ask for contact numbers for further review once the person is back in the
community.

At the end of life

• If the person is in the last stages of life, those who are close to them may
want to stay with them outside visiting hours. Discuss possible
arrangements with staff. 

• Depending on the nature of the person's illness - for example, if the doctor
feels the person is likely to have a heart attack - you may need to consider
your views on resuscitation. The medical team and consultant should
always discuss such issues and decisions with the main carer or family
members. It may help to talk it through with family or friends. If anything is
unclear, ask them to explain any terminology they use.

Page 5

Page 61



www.alzheimers.org.uk

• The person may have set out their own wishes regarding resuscitation in an
advance decision, in which case you need to simply follow their wishes
(see 
Factsheet 463, Advance decision).

Your local Alzheimer's Society branch will always be willing to talk to you and
offer advice and information to support your needs.

For more information, Dementia Catalogue, our specialist dementia information
resource, is available on the website at alzheimers.org.uk/dementiacatalogue

Factsheet 477

Last updated: July 2008
Last reviewed: July 2008

Reviewed by: Polly Hauxwell, Head of Service Development, Alzheimer's
Society

Page 6

Page 62



Annex F 

E-mail from Dr David Geddes  
 
The issue of carers being logged on patients notes has been for a long 
time pushed as good practice - supported by the sterling work of the 
Carers group in York. Each practice has a lead for carers issues and 
tries to maintain a database of carers for their patients. - 
Difficulties always arise because of course quite often a carer will not 
be registered at the same practice as the patient - and the database is 
notoriously difficult to keep up to date.  
 
I spoke with the carers group recently to see how we can support this as 
an ongoing piece of work, - the carers group have also updated their 
information guide to practices. 

Page 63



Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Health Scrutiny Committee Work Plan 2008/09 

 
 

Work Area Tasks Timeframe Responsible Officer 
LINks • Participate in training and events in connection with the 

development of the LINk in conjunction with Host (North 
Bank Forum) 

• Receive regular updates from Trusts 
• Report back with a detailed working relationship between 

LINks, NBF & the Health Scrutiny Committee 

Ongoing 
 
 
Ongoing 
January 2009 

Nigel Burchell / Scrutiny 
Officer (as appropriate) 

Dental Provision In York • Receive regular update from PCT Ongoing Scrutiny Officer together 
with appropriate persons 
from the PCT. 

Annual Healthcheck • Begin preparations for 2008/09 Annual Healthcheck January 2009  

Current Scrutiny Review 
(A review on dementia 
and secondary care) 

• Receive draft final report November 2008 
 

Scrutiny Officer together 
with appropriate officers 
in Directorates 

Local Area Agreement 
& Healthy City Board 

• Update Report November 2008 Scrutiny Officer with 
Denise Simms (Senior 
Partnership Support 
Officer – Without Walls) 
and Rachel Johns 

General • Update on events attended in relation to Health Scrutiny January 2009 Scrutiny Officer 

 
A

g
e
n

d
a
 A

n
n
e
x

P
a
g
e
 6

5



P
a

g
e
 6

6

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k


	Agenda
	
	1 Declarations of Interest
	2 Minutes
	4 Healthy City Board - Progress Update
	Annex A - LAA 2008-11

	5 Dementia Review - Final Draft Report
	Annex A - Psychiatric Liaison Service
	Annex B - Comments from front line staff at York Hospital
	Annex C - Response from LMC
	Annex D - National Dementia Strategy
	Annex E - Care on a hospital ward Leaflet
	Annex F - E-mail from Dr David Geddes

	

